

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis 2018:94

An ecological and socioeconomical study of a locally endangered tree species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*, in a dry Afromontane forest

Et økologisk og sosio-økonomisk studie av et lokalt truet treslag, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*, i en tørr Afromontan skog

Mekdes Ourge Wegasie

An ecological and socio-economical study of a locally endangered tree species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*, in a dry Afromontane forest

Et økologisk og sosio-økonomisk studie av et lokalt truet treslag, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*, i en tørr Afromontan skog

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis

Mekdes Ourge Wegasie

Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Ås 2018



Thesis number 2017:94 ISSN 1894-6402 ISBN 978-82-575-1562-1

PhD supervisors

Professor Kari Klanderud

Dr. Katrine Eldegard

Professor Ole Hofstad

Faculty of Environmental Science and Natural Resource Management (MINA) Norwegian university of life science (NMBU), P.O. Box 5003, NO- 1432 Ås, Norway

Professor Ørjan Totland

Department of Biology, University of Bergen, P.O. Box 7800, N-5020, Bergen, Norway

Dr. Sarah Tewolde-Berhan

Dr. Kidane Giday

College of Dryland Agriculture and Natural Resources, Mekelle University, P.O. Box 213, Mekelle, Ethiopia

PhD evaluation committee

Professor Demel Teketay

Address: Botswana Univesity of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Department of Crop Science and Production, Private Bag 0027, Gaborone, Botswana Phone: +267 3650140 (office), +267 75220185 (mobile) E-mail: dteketay@bca.bw

Senior Research Scientist Graciela M. Rusch

Address: Norwegian Institute for Natural Research - NINA Phone: +47 93008503 E-mail: <u>gabriela.rusch@nina.no</u>

Committee coordinator

Professor Torbjørn Haugaasen

Faculty of Environmental Science and Natural Resource Management (MINA) Norwegian university of life science (NMBU), P.O. Box 5003, NO- 1432 Ås, Norway Phone: + 47 67231769 E-mail: torbjorn.haugaasen@nmbu.no I dedicated this thesis to

my beloved late father, Ourge, Alemitu, Abebe, Albastros, Mule, Haymi

"If you cannot explain it simply, you do not understand it well enough"

(Albert Einstein)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank God for the gift of the earth, an enormous laboratory for scientific study. I am grateful to divine providence through the ups and down of my PhD studies; how would I have come this far had it not been for you?

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Prof. Kari Klanderud, my main supervisor, and Dr. Katrine Eldegard, my co-supervisor, for giving me many opportunities to learn from them through my Ph.D. journey. Prof Kari, you gave me quick, positive comments and were understanding, available whenever I wanted you; for these I am thankful. Dr. Katrine, you were of immense help in statistical analysis, I cannot thank you enough. Your guidance enabled me to explore my data more critically, while your review comments helped me polish my papers; thank you so much! I thank Prof. Ole Hofstad for helping me in my socio-economic paper. I appreciate guidance from my former main supervisor, Prof. Ørjan Totland from the initial stages of my PhD studies. Your positivity always amazed me. You are my academic role model! I thank you for showing me immense patience when I was overly ambitious. I thank my co-supervisors at Mekelle University; Dr. Sarah Tewolde-Berhan and Dr. Kidane Giday for the discussions during fieldwork. I thank Dr. Emiru for help with logistics during my fieldwork. Thank you Dr. Meley, for the tour of Ås town during the start of my studies and for commenting on my socio-economic paper.

My study was funded under the NORHED project titled "Steps toward sustainable forest management with the local communities in Tigray, Northern Ethiopia" for which I am thankful. I thank Hugumburda forest administers who made it possible to conduct the fieldwork in the forest. I am grateful to Mekelle University for all logistic help. My sincere gratitude goes to my fieldwork assistants, especially Angesom, Netsanet, Aster, Brihanu and all the others for their help and support. I thank the administrators of MINA for making the work environment conducive, particularly, Kari, Gunnar, Grethe, and others. Thank you, Prof. Sam, for the nice chat we had and your office was open for me when I need your help. Thanks to my fellow PhD students, Dennis, Dawit, David, Erik, Fredrick, Hanna, Kristel, Mengesteab, Miguel, Saeed, Solrun, Thomas and Yennie, for the lunch time company in the blue room and chats in the corridors and walkways. I thank my IBF family, Taiwo, Lazarius, Beatrice, Dorcas, Ellen, Mose, Gerald, Mary (Nigeria), Mats, Mona, Sjur, Mariet, Mary (Ghana), Doreen and her children, Bodil, Matha, Elizabeth, Wolde Michael, Jeevan, Tina and your kids for the good times we shared.

Finally, I wish to thank my husband and daughter for being patient for the whole four years of my study. You encouraged me to take on the challenge of the PhD studies, and stood by me through your thoughts and prayers. Now that the PhD studies have finally come to an end, here I am to compensate for all the time I spent away from you! Thank you, Mule and Zeke, for looking after my daughter; Hymi thanks a lot for your prayers and encouragement.

I thank my late father and my mother for raising me. Mom, you always impress me by the hard work of your hands! Thank you so much for everything!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
SUMMA	RYix
LIST OF	PAPERS xi
1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1.	Multipurpose tree species in the tropics1
1.2.	Afromontane forests and the role of environmental and human disturbance factors2
1.3.	Use and distribution of <i>Olea europaea</i> subsp. <i>cuspidata</i> 3
1.4.	Study aims and questions
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	
2.1.	Study area5
2.2.	Field data collection
2.2.	1. Vegetation survey
2.2.	2. Environmental and Human disturbance factors
2.3.	Derived variables
2.4.	Statistical analysis
3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION	
3.1.	Thesis overview
3.2.	The relationship between O. europaea and biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors
3.3.	Population structure and ontogenetic niche shifts in <i>O. europaea</i>
3.4.	The relationship between reproductive success of O. europaea and human disturbance 14
3.5.	The extent of illegal harvesting of <i>O. europaea</i> and its causes15
4. CO	NCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES16
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	

SUMMARY

Afromontane forests are found in the tropics and are often threatened because of land use changes. These forests have various types of multipurpose tree species that provide different services to the local communities. However, many of these species are being threatened because of overexploitation, and are therefore, locally endangered. Understanding the relationship between endangered tree species, and biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors is important to understand their current and future distributions, at both local and larger scales, and to provide good plans for management and conservation. *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*, one of the multipurpose trees in dry Afromontane forests provides vital functions to the local communities. The species is under pressure from overexploitation and considered among the locally endangered tree species in Ethiopia.

This thesis consists of results from studies carried out in a dry Afromontane forest in Northern Ethiopia. The main aim of these studies was to examine which factors influence the performance of a multi-purpose and locally endangered tree species across different levels of organization, i.e. from individual reproductive success, different ontogenetic stages, and abundance on community level. We explored (1) how biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors influence the abundance and biomass of two key dry Afromontane forest species, (2) the population structure and if there are ontogenetic niche shifts in *O. europaea* in the forest, (3) how the disturbance and environmental factors are related with the reproductive success of *O. europaea*, (4) the extent of illegal logging of *O. europaea* in the study area, and what kind of actual benefits the species provide to the local communities. We used vegetation survey, soil samples and questionnaires to sample the data, and generalized linear models and, ordination analyses to analyse the data.

We showed that biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors explained over 40% of the variation in *O. europaea* abundance and that there was a positive relationship between two endangered species, *O. europaea* and *Juniperus procera* and woody species richness, but also an effect of human disturbance. Ontogenetic niche shifts were observed in *O. europaea*, suggesting that seedlings, saplings, and adults are differently related to woody species richness, soil depth, slope and logging. We also found a negative relationship between the reproductive success of *O. europaea* and human disturbance. Even if the forest is protected by guards, there is still illegal logging taking place.

With these studies, we concluded that because of the positive relationship between the two tree species and woody species richness, we recommend the forest administrators should consider conserving woody species in general to promote *O. europaea* and *Juniperus procera* abundance in degraded areas. For protecting the few *O. europaea* seedlings in the forest, special attention should be given to protect them from browsing. Moreover, human disturbance is the main factor influencing reproductive success and a reason for illegal logging in the forest. Therefore, we would suggest that allowing the local community to harvest dead wood from the forest might reduce the illegal logging. Finally, we would also suggest establishing permanent plots for monitoring the extent of illegal logging of *O. europaea* in the forest.

LIST OF PAPERS

Paper I

Wegasie, M.O., Klanderud, K., Eldegard, K, Tewolde-Berhan, S., Giday, K., Totland, Ø. (2018). Locally Endangered Tree Species in a Dry Montane Forest are Enhanced by High Woody Species Richness but Affected by Human Disturbance. *Journal of Arid Environments*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2018.08.001

Paper II

Wegasie, M.O., Klanderud, K., Totland, Ø., Eldegard, K. Ontogenetic niche shifts of a locally endangered tree species (*Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*): implications for conservation. Submitted manuscript

Paper III

Wegasie, M.O., Eldegard, K., Tewolde-Berhan, S., Totland, Ø., Klanderud, K. The relationship between reproductive success of a locally endangered tree species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* and human disturbance in an isolated Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. Manuscript

Paper IV

Wegasie, M.O, Hofstad, O., Klanderud, K., Eldegard, K., Tewolde-Berhan., Sarah (2018). Illegal Harvesting of Locally Endangered *Olea europaea* Subsp. *cuspidata* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. and Its Causes in Hugumburda Forest, Northern Ethiopia. *Forests* **2018**, *9*(8), 498; doi: 10.3390/f90804

SYNOPSIS

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Multipurpose tree species in the tropics

Multipurpose tree species are woody perennials that provide more than one service to the human community (Wood and Burley, 1991, Price et al., 2011). The services could be provisioning, regulating, supporting and cultural (Foroughbakhch et al., 2009). In the tropics, there are many multipurpose tree species, for example, Moringa oleifera, Jatropha curcas, Ziziphus spina-christ, and several others known for their timber and non-timber benefits (Olson and Fahey, 2011, Kumar et al., 2011). However, many of them are being threatened because of overexploitation (Sinébou et al., 2016), and are therefore, categorized as locally endangered plant species (Herrero-Jáuregui et al., 2013). For instance, species like Rheum austral, Erythrina abyssinica, Hagenia abyssinica, Juniperus procera, Olea europaea subsp. *cuspidata* are among locally endangered, multipurpose plant species (Feyissa et al., 2005, CBD, 2009, Kirika et al., 2015, Pandith et al., 2018). The reason could be that the trees are often the only resources for plant material, particularly for firewood for the poor communities, and fodder for their livestock (Arnold, 1987, Dawson et al., 2014). However, there are unresolved conflicts between the use and management of these species (Herrero-Jáuregui et al., 2009, Herrero-Jáuregui et al., 2013). For instance, according to a study conducted by Masozera and Alavalapati (2004), the local people's dependency on the forest for fuelwood and for generating income created conflicts between biodiversity conservation and community needs, in a pine plantation managed as a buffer and habitat for wildlife in Rwanda. Therefore, for effective conservation of multipurpose tree species, there should be a balance between conservation and their use (Adams et al., 2004).

1.2. Afromontane forests and the role of environmental and human disturbance factors

Afromontane forests are found in the tropics, and are often threatened ecosystems because of land use changes, natural and human disturbances (DeFries et al., 2005, Tesfaye et al., 2010), and they are characterized by their discontinuous vegetation assemblages on isolated mountains called "forest island" (Meadows and Linder, 1993). They are typically surrounded by agricultural fields in the lowlands, and often have high species diversity (White, 1981, 1983). The distribution of Afromontane forests stretches from the mountainous part of Africa to the southern Arabian Peninsula, and, in a fragmented form, covers West and East African highlands, Arabian highlands, and parts of the Cape Peninsula (White, 1983). The Eastern Afromontane forests cover about 1,017,806 square kilometres, in Eastern Arc Mountains in Kenya and Tanzania, Southern and Albertine Rift, and the Ethiopian Highlands. These forests contain approximately 7,600 plant species, among them, 2,350 are endemic (Profile, 2012).

Afromontane forests are under high pressure due to anthropogenic factors, such as land use change and logging (Alston and Richardson, 2006). Therefore, these human disturbance activities are affecting the population structure of the plants, which may result in biodiversity loss (Sala et al., 2000). Moreover, human disturbances, such as tracks made by people and their livestock indicate accessibility of the forest, and can also increase accessibility and, thus, harvesting of trees (Sinébou et al., 2016). High harvesting of branches and leaves may affect the tree populations, and the flowering and, thus, the reproduction of the species in particular (Oumorou et al., 2010). Understanding tree species responses to environmental factors and to human disturbance is important for developing sustainable management and conservation plans (Walthert and Meier, 2017). In Ethiopia, Afromontane forests previously constituted 35-40% of the total vegetation. However, due to human disturbance such as agriculture expansion into the forest fringe, over-exploitation and land use change, only few forest fragments remain (DeBusk Jr, 1998, Wakjira, 2006). They are distributed in the central, northern, eastern and southern parts of the country (see review in Tura et al., 2017).

1.3. Use and distribution of Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata

Olea europaea subsp. *cuspidata* is one of the subspecies in the Olive (Oleaceae) family. The tree has a wide distribution range from Southern to Eastern Africa, and in some parts of the Arabia, India, and China. The tree resists both drought and frost (Bekele-Tesemma and Tengnäs, 2007). It is a characteristic tree species, together with *Juniperus procera*, in dry Afromontane forests, and widely used for timber production (Aerts et al., 2006, Walthert and Meier, 2017). The leaves can be used as medicine (Long et al., 2010), and the roots for traditional smoke bath (Ourge et al., 2018).

Even though *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* is a locally endangered, multipurpose tree species in its native range, in places like Australia and Hawaii, it is categorized as a problematic species (Cuneo and Leishman, 2006, Besnard et al., 2007). There is a dilemma being both an endangered and an invasive species (Marchetti and Engstrom, 2016), as some species can be problematic out of their native range, but useful in their natural place. According to the enemy release hypothesis, this may be because plants have less enemies or competitors when they are introduced to a new area, which enable them to dominate over native species (Keane and Crawley, 2002).

Olea europaea subsp. *cuspidata* (hereafter *O. europaea*) is indigenous to Ethiopia, with a distribution from 1250 to 3100 m a.s.l. in the dry Afromontane forests, e.g. Hugumburda Afromontane forest (Fig. 1a). The adult trees normally grow up to 15 m high

(Fig. 1b), but they can reach 25 m (Friis, 1992). It is pollinated by wind, and birds disperse the fruits. The flowers are cream colour (see Fig. 1c) and are 6-10 mm long with both male and female organs. The fleshy fruit has a diameter of 10 x 8 mm with an oval shape (see Fig. 1d). The immature fruit is green, and brownish when it has ripened (Abiyu et al., 2016). The population of *O. europaea* is decline because of overexploitation and it is recognized as a locally endangered species in Ethiopia (CBD, 2009).

Although many studies have been carried out on the plant species diversity of Afromontane forests, little attention has been given to how the response of threatened multipurpose tree species in general, or, *O. europaea* in particular, are related to biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors. Biotic factors may determine plant abundances at local and larger scales through species interactions, such as facilitation or competition (Kimmins, 2009, Maestre et al., 2010). In addition, abiotic factors, such as topography and soil also play a significant role in determining plant species abundance (Williams-Linera and Lorea, 2009), and human disturbance is a reason for land use change in densely populated areas (Profile, 2012).

1.4. Study aims and questions

The aim of this study was to explore the performance of *O. europaea* across different levels of organization, from population to community level, and how these relate to the environmental conditions and to the human disturbances in Hugumburda forest in Ethiopia. The four major questions addressed in this study are: (1) how do the abundances and biomass of two endangered tree species, *O. europaea* and *Juniperus procera*, relate to environmental and human disturbance factors (**Paper I**)? (2) do the different life stages (seedlings, saplings, adults) of *O. europaea* respond differently to biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors (**Paper II**)? (3) how does the reproductive success of *O. europaea* relate to environmental conditions and human disturbance (**Paper III**)? (4) what are the benefits from *O. europaea* to the local community, and what is the extent of the illegal harvest of *O. europaea* wood in the forest (**Paper IV**)?

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Study area

Hugumburda is an isolated Afromontane forest located at 12^o 22'- 12^o 42' N, 39^o 28'-39^o 40' E in Tigray region, North Ethiopia. The landscape of the forest is mainly rugged and mountainous, with an elevation range of 1860–2700 m. a.s.l. The soil depth is shallow and dominated by leptosols and regosols soil types (Aynekulu, 2011). The average daily temperature range is 14.6 –22.4°C, with annual minimum of 8.8°C in October and a maximum of 34.3 °C in June. The annual rainfall range is 705–986 mm (Woldemichael et al., 2010).

Hugumburda is a secondary forest (Aynekulu, 2011) and has a high diversity of trees, bushes, lianas, and herbs and includes some residential areas and agricultural fields on the borders of the forest. According to Woldemichael et al. (2010)'s importance value index calculation, the dominant tree species in the forest are *Juniperus procera, Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* (see Fig. 1b), *Nuxia congesta, Cassipourea mallosana*, and *Olinia rochetiana*. The forest is surrounded by 26,889 households and among them, 5496 households live inside the forest (Kidane et al., 2018). According to the local community, in the 1950s there was commercial timber production undertaken by an Italy company in the forest. In 1993, the forest was officially recognized as one of the National Forest Priority Areas in Ethiopia (Woldemichael et al., 2010). In Ethiopia, 58 National Forest Priority Areas (NFPA's), which cover 3.6 million hectares have been identified and delineated to conserve biodiversity loss and promote educational visits and research activities (MEFCC, 2017).



Figure 1 a) landscape view of Hugumburda forest, northern Ethiopia; b) *O. europaea* tree in Hugumburda forest; c) *O. europaea* flowers on a tree; d) *O. europaea* fruits (mature: brown and not mature mixed: green) harvested for fruit counting. Photos: Wegasie, M.O

2.2. Field data collection

2.2.1. Vegetation survey

Seventy 20×20 m plots were positioned on forested slopes at elevations of 2233-2503 m.a.s.l. in 2015. The plots were distributed about 100 m apart along parallel transects placed perpendicular to three local terrain ridges, each transect running from the top to the bottom of the ridge (Figure 2). The distance between neighboring transects was ca. 150 m.



Figure 2. Locations of the study plots in Hugumburda forest, Northern Ethiopia

In each 20 \times 20 m main plot, we identified, counted and recorded all adult trees and shrubs to species level. We measured stem diameter at breast height (DBH) of individual trees, basal diameter (BH) for each shrub, and the heights of both shrubs and trees. The abundance and species identities of saplings were recorded in one 5 \times 5 m sub-plot, placed in the center of each main plot. The number and identities of seedlings was recorded in five 1 \times 1 m small plots, one placed in the center of each main plot and four at the corners of each 5 \times 5 m sub-plot (see Fig. 3). We also visually determined the percent cover of herbaceous species within each small plot. We used plant height and diameter at breast height to classify each woody individual into adult, sapling or seedling.

2.2.2. Environmental and Human disturbance factors

We sampled environmental and disturbance variables in the same 20×20 m plots as we sampled the vegetation data. To quantify human disturbance, we used a measuring tape to estimate the total length (m) of tracks in each main plot, using these tracks as one indicator of disturbance of both humans and domestic animals. We also counted the number of *O*. *europaea* stumps and used that as an indicator of logging.

To study the relationship between *O. europaea* trees and abiotic environmental variables, data on slope and elevation, and soil samples were taken. Slope and elevation were measured using clinometer and a handheld GPS, respectively. Two separate soil samples were collected for soil moisture content (by soil core samplers) and chemical analyses (soil moisture, soil pH, electrical conductivity, and soil organic matter). Soil depth was measured in the field by digging a pit at the center of the main plot down to the bedrock.



Figure 3. Sample plot design used during the fieldwork in Hugumburda forest

For the reproductive parameters (**Paper III**), we selected one *O. europaea* tree in each 20×20 m main plot. On each of the selected *O. europaea* trees, ten branches were chosen randomly and marked at 25 cm from the tip to the middle. The sampled trees were monitored three times until fruit maturation. First, the number of flowers and leaves on the marked branches were counted during the flowering period (June 2015). All marked branches were revisited for a second time (September 2015) to count the number of pre-mature fruits. We counted premature fruits to avoid data loss during the flow the number of period, as ripening fruits are commonly eaten by birds (Abiyu et al., 2016). We counted mature fruits in October 2015.

For **Paper IV**, we conducted a socio-economic survey in three villages (Kukufto, Hashenge, and Tahtay Haya) to assess how human needs and activities relate to the harvesting of *O. europaea* in the nature reserve. Representatives of 162 households, that is 54 respondents from each village, were interviewed. Systematic stratified sampling was used to select households, with the aim of including both genders and different economic statuses, age classes, and educational backgrounds. A semi-structured questionnaire (Appendix 1) was administered to get information about the different uses of *O. europaea* wood to local communities.

2.3. Derived variables

Woody species richness was defined as the total number of tree and shrub species observed in a sample plot, and abundance as the number of individuals counted in each main plot.

In **Paper I, II & IV**, aboveground biomass for all trees was estimated using an allometric equation developed for tropical forest (Chave et al., 2014).

In **Paper II**, simulated values were determined by random relocations of the sampled seedling, sapling and adult trees from all sample plots using the reshape2 package in R. Moreover, **Paper II** provides a novel approach of testing observed data with simulated data that could advance the studies of ontogenetic niche shifts in plant populations.

In **Paper IV**, aboveground *O. europaea* biomass was estimated using the allometric equation developed by Parent (2000) of *O. europaea* trees in Ethiopia, and *O. europaea* wood annual harvesting rate was determined by calculating the aboveground biomass of all *O.europaea* tree stumps diameter with their corresponding time since cut (i.e. stump age) and dividing by 400 m² (main plot size).

2.4. Statistical analysis

Different types of generalized linear models were used to examine patterns and relationships between the abundance, biomass, and reproductive success of *O. europaea*, and environmental and disturbance factors in the forest.

Generalized linear models (GLM) and Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) analyses were used to explore and determine the relationship between the abundance and biomass of two dominant tree species, *O. europaea* and *Juniperus procera* and biotic, abiotic and human disturbance (**Paper I**), and the association between the seedlings, saplings, and adults of *O. europaea* and as well as environmental and disturbance factors (**Paper II**).

Logistic regression analyses were used to determine the likelihood of finding the different *O. europaea* life stages in the plots. The interaction term between the life stages and biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors was used to assess whether the influence of these factors varied among the life stages and thus reveal ontogenetic niche shifts (**Paper II**). We used similar logistic regressions analyses to estimate the likelihood of *O. europaea* being harvested from Hugumburda Forest (**Paper IV**). Hurdle and generalized mixed effect models (GLMM) were used to explore the relationship between the reproductive success of *O. europaea* and tree attributes as well as abiotic and disturbance factors (**Paper III**). In **Paper IV**, linear and generalized linear models were used to assess the relationship between *O. europaea* harvesting rate and distance to the forest, and number of *O. europaea* stumps and distance to the forest, respectively.

3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Thesis overview

Taken together, in **Paper I**, we found that *O. europaea* abundance was positively related with the abundance of another dominant tree species, *Juniperus procera*, and woody species richness. However, human disturbance factors such as logging and track length influenced *O. europaea* abundance and biomass (**Paper I**). In **Paper II**, three *O. europaea* life stages responded differently to woody species richness, soil depth, slope, and logging, suggesting ontogenetic niche shifts in *O. europaea*. In **Paper III**, we found that the reproductive success of *O. europaea* was negatively related to human disturbance factors (i.e. tracks of humans and their livestock in the forest). In **Paper IV**, we showed that *O. europaea* has multiple benefits to the local community. Moreover, we found that there is illegal logging of *O. europaea*, with 430 kg ha⁻¹ being harvested per year despite the fact that the forest is protected.

3.2. The relationship between *O. europaea* and biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors

The results reported in **Paper I** indicated that there is a positive relationship between the abundance and biomass of *J. procera* and *O.* europaea (**Paper I**, Fig. 1a & b), and with woody species richness (**Paper I**, Fig. 2). The positive relationship between the two multipurpose tree species and woody species richness may be due to facilitation which can promote the conservation of tree species (Gómez-Aparicio, 2009). For instance, Maestre et al. (2012) showed that woody species richness can positively influence the abiotic environment by increasing soil fertility through facilitating carbon and nitrogen cycling in dry forest ecosystems. An alternative explanation for the positive relationship could be niche partitioning between abundant tree species in arid areas, suggesting that *J. procera* and *O. europaea* coexist because they have different resource requirements (Hubbell, 1980, Fetene and Feleke, 2001, Peterson et al., 2013).

We also found a positive relationship between the abundance and biomass of the two characteristic tree species and abiotic factors, such as slope and elevation (**Paper I**, Fig. 2; Fig. 4), suggesting that these factors may play a significant role in the distribution of these tree species in dry Afromontane forests (Mehnatkesh et al., 2013, Måren et al., 2015). The reason for the higher abundance of *O. europaea* and *Juniperus procera* at higher elevations could be that these species are able to grow on rocky ground, and at steep slopes of the forest, because of their ability of withstanding the dry conditions (Bekele, 2000, Wubet et al., 2003, Aerts et al., 2006). We also found that the biomass and the abundance of *O. europaea*, and the number of cut *O. europaea* stumps in the forest were positively correlated (**Paper I**, Fig. 2; Fig. 3). This suggests that the local community undertake selective logging in dense stands

of *O. europaea* (as also seen in **Paper IV**). Therefore, special attention should be given to *O. europaea* and *Juniperus procera* dominated areas of the forest.

3.3. Population structure and ontogenetic niche shifts in O. europaea

Studying the population structure and ontogenetic niche shifts of endangered tree species is important for choosing optimal conservation strategies to manage the plant species. We found lower densities of seedlings than saplings and adults (**Paper II**, Fig. 1; Fig. 2), and it seems like there is lower regeneration of *O. europaea* in the Hugumburda forest compared with other Afromontane forests in the region. The reason for this low regeneration could be excessive browsing of seedlings by livestock (Aerts et al., 2007).

We also tested if there are ontogenetic niche shifts in *O. europaea*. We did this by testing for interactions between three different life stages in terms of how they relate to different biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors (**Paper II**). The results showed that the seedlings, saplings and adults are related differently to woody species richness, soil depth, slope, and logging, suggesting ontogenetic niche shifts (**Paper II**, Fig. 4; Table 2).

There was higher probability of *O. europaea* seedlings occurring in area with deeper soils. This is likely because deeper soil holds more moisture than shallow soil, and seedlings require moisture to establish (Bekele, 2005). However, the probability of finding *O. europaea* saplings decreased with soil depth. The reason could be that both saplings and adults were more abundant at higher elevations, where the soil is also shallower (as seen in **Paper I**).

The probability of finding saplings and adults of *O. europaea* increased with woody species richness (**Paper II**, Fig. 4) (Maestre et al., 2012). We speculated that this could be

due to facilitation since *O. europaea* seedlings can easily grow under the shade of woody species, e.g. *Euclea racemosa* as a nurse plant (Aerts et al., 2007).

The probability of finding *O. europaea* seedlings, saplings and adults responded differently to logging. The probability of finding seedlings and adults increased with logging, whereas saplings decreased. This suggests that logging is higher in areas where adult trees dominate, and that logging may favour seedlings because it might reduce competition from older trees. Quantifying the logging and harvesting rate, and understanding why and where illegal harvesting is occurring, was a topic we examined in detail in **Paper IV**.

3.4. The relationship between reproductive success of *O. europaea* and human disturbance

In **Paper III**, we found that the likelihood of *O. europaea* flowers occurrence was higher with wider canopies, and lower with increasing soil depth (**Paper III**, Fig. 1; Table 1). A tree with wider canopy may have higher biomass, and thus more resources are available for flowering (Sanni et al., 2018).

The likelihood of *O. europaea* flowers and premature fruits resulting in mature fruits was negatively related with human disturbance (track length) in the forest (**Paper III**, Fig. 2; Fig 3). The reason could be that tracks made by people and animals could create more gaps, which could hinder pollination (Sayago et al., 2018). In addition, human disturbance effects, by lowering pollination attraction and increasing inbreeding, on reproductive success has been observed on fruit production in *Mediterranean orchids* in Italy (Pellegrino and Bellusci, 2014). An alternative explanation for the low fruit production may be due to a fly feeding on premature *O. europaea* fruits (Mkize et al., 2008), which could lead to abscission of fruits (Stephenson, 1981).

Reproductive success is a chained process. If one stage get negatively affected, it would be problematic for the next. The low availability of fruits could be a bottleneck for seedling recruitment because of less availability of seeds in the soil seed bank (Sinébou et al., 2016). This might be one reason for the low seedling density in the *O. europaea* population, as presented in **Paper II**.

3.5. The extent of illegal harvesting of O. europaea and its causes

Paper IV shows that *O. europaea* trees are used for different purposes, including farm implements, fuelwood, and fumigation. Because of that, ca. 2,000–5,000 tons was logged in Hugumburda forest during the study year 2016. *Olea europaea* wood is used for firewood or charcoal because it burns slowly and has a high calorific value with little smoke (Wubet et al., 2003, Gebreslassie et al., 2014). We observed that small trees were cut more frequently than the large ones, likely because small trees are easier to cut and carry with the tools available (Leach and Mearns, 2013).

We found a positive relationship between the harvesting rate and elevation (**Paper IV**, Fig.3; Table 2), and there was humped back relationship between the number of stumps and distance from the nearest village (**Paper IV**, Fig.4; Table 3). The positive relationship between *O. europaea* harvesting rate and elevation suggests that because of the high abundance of *O. europaea* at higher elevation, local people do frequent logging there. In addition, the reason for the humped back relationship between the number of stumps and distance from the nearest village could be because of the very nearest part of the forest might be already logged, and as a result, people are cutting *O. europaea* tree at intermediate distances (ca. 1.5–2.5 km) from the village.

We also found that there is a higher demand for *O. europaea* wood in the villages around Hugumburda forest than in the bigger city Mekelle. The reason could be that *O. europaea*

wood sold in the big city probably comes from many sources, and the competition among suppliers may keep the prices for the wood relatively low. The higher demand of *O. europaea* by the local community could increase the probability of illegal harvesting in forests. Although there are rules and regulations that prohibit the harvesting of *O. europaea* in Hugumburda Forest, this is still a problem.

4. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Tree species in Afromontane forests are susceptible to anthropogenic factors due to land use change and over-exploitation (Alston and Richardson, 2006). Therefore, understanding the relationship between endangered tree species and biotic, and abiotic environmental factors, and human disturbance is urgent to develop sound management strategies (Kimmins, 2009, Maestre et al., 2010).

Paper I shows that conserving woody species richness may promote the conservation of the two multi-purpose tree species, *Olea europaea* and *Juniperus procera* as well as the entire forest. In addition, the positive relationship between *O. europaea* and *J. procera*, and with other woody species in the forest suggests even if *O.* europaea is problematic in other areas, this is not the case within its native range in Hugumburda forest. The high number of cut stumps show that selective illegal logging is common in *O. europaea*-dominated areas in the forest (**Paper IV**). Human disturbance is also negatively related to reproductive success (**Paper III**) and likely decline population density over the long term (**Paper II**). Controlling human disturbance could help conserving the forest resources at local and national scale, and we recommend different tools to conserve endangered tree species in general and *O. europaea* in particular. First, the management plan for conserving endangered tree species in dry montane forests should include conserving woody species in general, as this, in turn, can promote the abundance of locally endangered tree species. Second, low regeneration rates

and drought stress appear to be the main constraints for *O. europaea* seedlings to establish. Thus, special attention should be given to protect seedlings from browsing. Third, illegal harvesting of *O. europaea* wood is being done because people need fuelwood, fumigation and farm implements. The local people are poor and do not have other alternative sources. Therefore, allowing the local community to harvest dead wood from the forest might reduce the illegal logging. Finally, we recommend the establishment of permanent sample plots in the forest to monitor the increment of *O. europaea* as well as other tree species to control the intensity of the illegal logging in the forest.

REFERENCES

- ABIYU, A., TEKETAY, D., GLATZEL, G. & GRATZER, G. 2016. Seed production, seed dispersal and seedling establishment of two afromontane tree species in and around a church forest: implications for forest restoration. *Forest Ecosystems*, 3, 16.
- ADAMS, W. M., AVELING, R., BROCKINGTON, D., DICKSON, B., ELLIOTT, J., HUTTON, J., ROE, D., VIRA, B. & WOLMER, W. 2004. Biodiversity conservation and the eradication of poverty. *science*, 306, 1146-1149.
- AERTS, R., NEGUSSIE, A., MAES, W., NOVEMBER, E., HERMY, M. & MUYS, B. 2007. Restoration of dry Afromontane forest using pioneer shrubs as nurse-plants for Olea europaea ssp. cuspidata. *Restoration Ecology*, 15, 129-138.
- AERTS, R., VAN OVERTVELD, K., HAILE, M., HERMY, M., DECKERS, J. & MUYS, B. 2006. Species composition and diversity of small Afromontane forest fragments in northern Ethiopia. *Plant Ecology*, 187, 127-142.
- ALSTON, K. P. & RICHARDSON, D. M. 2006. The roles of habitat features, disturbance, and distance from putative source populations in structuring alien plant invasions at the urban/wildland interface on the Cape Peninsula, South Africa. *Biological Conservation*, 132, 183-198.
- ARNOLD, J. 1987. An e-publication by the World Agroforestry Centre AGROFORESTRY A DECADE OF DEVELOPMENT Print print Preview.
- AYNEKULU, E. 2011. Forest diversity in fragmented landscapes of northern Ethiopia and implications for conservation. *A PhD thesis, Rheinschen Friedrich-Wilhems Universitat, Bonn, Germany.*
- BEKELE-TESEMMA, A. & TENGNÄS, B. 2007. Useful trees and shrubs for Ethiopia: identification, propagation and management for 17 agroclimatic zones, RELMA in ICRAF Project, World Agroforestry Centre, Eastern Africa Region.
- BEKELE, T. 2000. Plant population dynamics of Dodonaea angustifolia and Olea europaea ssp. cuspidata in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia.
- BEKELE, T. 2005. Recruitment, survival and growth of Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata seedlings and juveniles in dry Afromontane forests of northern Ethiopia. *Tropical Ecology*, 46, 113-126.
- BESNARD, G., HENRY, P., WILLE, L., COOKE, D. & CHAPUIS, E. 2007. On the origin of the invasive olives (Olea europaea L., Oleaceae). *Heredity*, 99, 608.
- CBD 2009. Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) Ethiopia's 4th Country Report. Addis Ababa: Institute of Biodiversity Conservation
- CHAVE, J., RÉJOU-MÉCHAIN, M., BÚRQUEZ, A., CHIDUMAYO, E., COLGAN, M. S., DELITTI, W. B., DUQUE, A., EID, T., FEARNSIDE, P. M. & GOODMAN, R. C. 2014. Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. *Global change biology*, 20, 3177-3190.
- CUNEO, P. & LEISHMAN, M. R. 2006. African Olive (Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata) as an environmental weed in eastern Australia: a review. *Cunninghamia*, 9, 545-577.
- DAWSON, I. K., LEAKEY, R., CLEMENT, C. R., WEBER, J. C., CORNELIUS, J. P., ROSHETKO, J. M., VINCETI, B., KALINGANIRE, A., TCHOUNDJEU, Z., MASTERS, E. & JAMNADASS, R. 2014. The management of tree genetic resources and the livelihoods of rural communities in the tropics: Non-timber forest products, smallholder agroforestry practices and tree commodity crops. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 333, 9-21.
- DEBUSK JR, G. H. 1998. A 37,500-year pollen record from Lake Malaŵi and implications for the biogeography of afromontane forests. *Journal of Biogeography*, 25, 479-500.

- DEFRIES, R., HANSEN, A., NEWTON, A. C. & HANSEN, M. C. 2005. Increasing isolation of protected areas in tropical forests over the past twenty years. *Ecological applications*, 15, 19-26.
- FETENE, M. & FELEKE, Y. 2001. Growth and photosynthesis of seedlings of four tree species from a dry tropical afromontane forest. *Journal of tropical ecology*, 17, 269-283.
- FEYISSA, T., WELANDER, M. & NEGASH, L. 2005. Micropropagation of Hagenia abyssinica: a multipurpose tree. *Plant cell, tissue and organ culture,* 80, 119-127.
- FOROUGHBAKHCH, P., PIÑERO, J. H., VÁZQUEZ, M. A. A. & AVILA, M. L. C. 2009. Use of multipurpose trees and shrubs in forestry and agroforestry systems in northeastern Mexico. *Handbook on Agroforestry: Management Practices and Environmental Impact*, 37-95.
- FRIIS, I. 1992. Forests and forest trees of northeast tropical Africa: their natural habitats and distribution patterns in Ethiopia, Djibouti and Somalia, London (UK), Her Majestry's Stationery Office, 1992.
- GEBRESLASSIE, T., HAGOS, G. & ABRAHAM, M. 2014. Assessing households' fuel wood tree species preference, the case of Desa'a afro alpine forest, Tigray. *Civil and Environmental Research*, 6, 48-51.
- GÓMEZ-APARICIO, L. 2009. The role of plant interactions in the restoration of degraded ecosystems: a meta-analysis across life-forms and ecosystems. *Journal of Ecology*, 97, 1202-1214.
- HERRERO-JÁUREGUI, C., GARCÍA-FERNÁNDEZ, C., SIST, P. L. & CASADO, M. A. 2009. Conflict of use for multi-purpose tree species in the state of Pará, eastern Amazonia, Brazil. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 18, 1019-1044.
- HERRERO-JÁUREGUI, C., GUARIGUATA, M. R., CÁRDENAS, D., VILANOVA, E., ROBLES, M., LICONA, J. C. & NALVARTE, W. 2013. Assessing the extent of "conflict of use" in multipurpose tropical forest trees: a regional view. *Journal of environmental management*, 130, 40-47.
- HUBBELL, S. P. 1980. Seed predation and the coexistence of tree species in tropical forests. *Oikos*, 214-229.
- KEANE, R. M. & CRAWLEY, M. J. 2002. Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 17, 164-170.
- KIDANE, L., NEMOMISSA, S. & BEKELE, T. 2018. Human-Forest interfaces in Hugumburda-Gratkhassu National Forest Priority Area, North-eastern Ethiopia. *Journal of ethnobiology and ethnomedicine*, 14, 17.
- KIMMINS, J. 2009. Forest ecology. Ecology-Volume II, 70.
- KIRIKA, M. W., KAHIA, J. W., DIBY, L. N., NJAGI, E. M., DADJO, C. & KOUAME, C. 2015. Micropropagation of an Endangered Medicinal and Indigenous Multipurpose Tree Species: Erythrina abyssinica. *Hortscience*, 50, 738-743.
- KUMAR, V., MAKKAR, H. P. S. & BECKER, K. 2011. Nutritional, physiological and haematological responses in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) juveniles fed detoxified Jatropha curcas kernel meal. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 17, 451-467.
- LEACH, G. & MEARNS, R. 2013. Beyond the woodfuel crisis: people, land and trees in *Africa*, Routledge.
- LONG, H., TILNEY, P. & VAN WYK, B.-E. 2010. The ethnobotany and pharmacognosy of Olea europaea subsp. africana (Oleaceae). South African Journal of Botany, 76, 324-331.
- MAESTRE, F. T., BOWKER, M. A., ESCOLAR, C., PUCHE, M. D., SOLIVERES, S., MALTEZ-MOURO, S., GARCÍA-PALACIOS, P., CASTILLO-MONROY, A. P., MARTÍNEZ, I. & ESCUDERO, A. 2010. Do biotic interactions modulate ecosystem functioning along stress gradients? Insights from semi-arid plant and biological soil

crust communities. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 365, 2057-2070.

- MAESTRE, F. T., QUERO, J. L., GOTELLI, N. J., ESCUDERO, A., OCHOA, V., DELGADO-BAQUERIZO, M., GARCÍA-GÓMEZ, M., BOWKER, M. A., SOLIVERES, S. & ESCOLAR, C. 2012. Plant species richness and ecosystem multifunctionality in global drylands. *Science*, 335, 214-218.
- MARCHETTI, M. P. & ENGSTROM, T. 2016. The conservation paradox of endangered and invasive species. *Conservation Biology*, 30, 434-437.
- MÅREN, I. E., KARKI, S., PRAJAPATI, C., YADAV, R. K. & SHRESTHA, B. B. 2015. Facing north or south: Does slope aspect impact forest stand characteristics and soil properties in a semiarid trans-Himalayan valley? *Journal of Arid Environments*, 121, 112-123.
- MASOZERA, M. K. & ALAVALAPATI, J. R. 2004. Forest dependency and its implications for protected areas management: a case study from the Nyungwe Forest Reserve, Rwanda. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 19, 85-92.
- MEADOWS, M. & LINDER, H. 1993. Special paper: a palaeoecological perspective on the origin of afromontane grasslands. *Journal of biogeography*, 345-355.

MEFCC 2017. THE FEDERAL DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF ETHIOPIA

MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT, FOREST AND CLIMATE

CHANGE (MEFCC). Addis Ababa: Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change.

- MEHNATKESH, A., AYOUBI, S., JALALIAN, A. & SAHRAWAT, K. L. 2013. Relationships between soil depth and terrain attributes in a semi arid hilly region in western Iran. *Journal of Mountain Science*, 10, 163.
- MKIZE, N., HOELMER, K. A. & VILLET, M. H. 2008. A survey of fruit-feeding insects and their parasitoids occurring on wild olives, Olea europaea ssp. cuspidata, in the Eastern Cape of South Africa. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, 18, 991-1004.
- OLSON, M. E. & FAHEY, J. W. 2011. Moringa oleifera: a multipurpose tree for the dry tropics. *Revista Mexicana De Biodiversidad*, 82, 1071-1082.
- OUMOROU, M., SINADOUWIROU, T., KIKI, M., KAKAÏ, R. G., MENSAH, G. A. & SINSIN, B. 2010. Disturbance and population structure of Vitex doniana Sw. in northern Benin, West Africa. *International journal of biological and chemical sciences*, 4.
- OURGE, M., HOFSTAD, O., KLANDERUD, K., ELDEGARD, K. & TEWOLDE-BERHAN, S. 2018. Illegal Harvesting of Locally Endangered Olea europaea Subsp. cuspidata (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. and Its Causes in Hugumburda Forest, Northern Ethiopia. *Forests*, 9, 498.
- PANDITH, S. A., DAR, R. A., LATTOO, S. K., SHAH, M. A. & RESHI, Z. A. 2018. Rheum australe, an endangered high-value medicinal herb of North Western Himalayas: a review of its botany, ethnomedical uses, phytochemistry and pharmacology. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 17, 573-609.
- PELLEGRINO, G. & BELLUSCI, F. 2014. Effects of human disturbance on reproductive success and population viability of Serapias cordigera (Orchidaceae). *Botanical journal of the Linnean Society*, 176, 408-420.
- PETERSON, M. L., RICE, K. J. & SEXTON, J. P. 2013. Niche partitioning between close relatives suggests trade-offs between adaptation to local environments and competition. *Ecology and evolution*, 3, 512-522.
- PRICE, M., GRATZER, G., ALEMAYEHU DUGUMA, L., KOHLER, T. & MASELLI, D. 2011. Mountain Forests in a Changing World: Realizing Values, Adressing Challenges,

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and Centre of Development and Environment (CDE).

PROFILE, E. 2012. EASTERN AFROMONTANE BIODIVERSITY HOTSPOT.

- SALA, O. E., CHAPIN, F. S., ARMESTO, J. J., BERLOW, E., BLOOMFIELD, J., DIRZO, R., HUBER-SANWALD, E., HUENNEKE, L. F., JACKSON, R. B. & KINZIG, A. 2000. Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. science, 287, 1770-1774.
- SANNI, G. K. S., SHACKLETON, C. M. & SINSIN, B. 2018. Reproductive phenology of two Mimusops species in relation to climate, tree diameter and canopy position in Benin (West Africa). *African Journal of Ecology*, 56, 323-333.
- SAYAGO, R., QUESADA, M., AGUILAR, R., ASHWORTH, L., LOPEZARAIZA-MIKEL, M. & MARTEN-RODRIGUEZ, S. 2018. Consequences of habitat fragmentation on the reproductive success of two Tillandsia species with contrasting life history strategies. *Aob Plants*, 10, 12.
- SINÉBOU, V., QUINET, M., AHOHUENDO, B. C. & JACQUEMART, A.-L. 2016. Reproductive traits affect the rescue of valuable and endangered multipurpose tropical trees. *AoB PLANTS*, 8, plw051-plw051.
- STEPHENSON, A. 1981. Flower and fruit abortion: proximate causes and ultimate functions. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 12, 253-279.
- TESFAYE, G., TEKETAY, D., FETENE, M. & BECK, E. 2010. Regeneration of seven indigenous tree species in a dry Afromontane forest, southern Ethiopia. *Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants,* 205, 135-143.
- TURA, T., SOROMESSA, T., LETA, S. & ARGAW, M. 2017. Plant Community Composition and Structure of Asabot Dry Afromontane Forest, West Harare Zone, Ethiopia. J Biodivers Endanger Species, 5, 2.
- WAKJIRA, F. S. 2006. *Biodiversity and ecology of Afromontane rainforests with wild Coffea arabica L. populations in Ethiopia*, Cuvillier.
- WALTHERT, L. & MEIER, E. S. 2017. Tree species distribution in temperate forests is more influenced by soil than by climate. *Ecology and evolution*, 7, 9473-9484.
- WHITE, F. 1981. The history of the Afromontane archipelago and the scientific need for its conservation. *African Journal of Ecology*, 19, 33-54.
- WHITE, F. 1983. The vegetation of Africa: a descriptive memoir to accompany the UNESCO/AETFAT/UNSO vegetation map of Africa by F White. *Natural Resources Research Report XX, UNESCO, Paris, France.*
- WILLIAMS-LINERA, G. & LOREA, F. 2009. Tree species diversity driven by environmental and anthropogenic factors in tropical dry forest fragments of central Veracruz, Mexico. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 18, 3269-3293.
- WOLDEMICHAEL, L. K., BEKELE, T. & NEMOMISSA, S. 2010. Vegetation composition in Hugumbirda-Gratkhassu national forest priority area, South Tigray. *Momona Ethiopian Journal of Science*, 2, 27-48.
- WOOD, P. J. & BURLEY, J. 1991. A tree for all reasons: introduction and evaluation of multipurpose trees for agroforestry.
- WUBET, T., KOTTKE, I., TEKETAY, D. & OBERWINKLER, F. 2003. Mycorrhizal status of indigenous trees in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia. *Forest ecology and management*, 179, 387-399.
APPENDIX

Questionnaire format used for interviewing farmers living around Hugumburda forest

NOTE: Olea is denoted Olea europaea supsp. cuspidata

Date of Interview:
Name of interviewer:
Name of interviewee:
Age: sex: Marital status:
Position in the household: Level of education:
Family size: No of children:
Interview number: work:
Address:
Specific site name:
Economic status:

Part I. Preliminary questions

A. Do you know Hugumbirda forest?



- C. Would you mention the benefits that you getting from the forest?
- D. Please quantify the amount of benefits that you get from the forest? (How much would be the quantity of wood that you get from the forest?)
- E. Do you know the species *Olea* tree?

	Yes	No
E.	What kind of benefits do you get	from <i>Olea</i> tree?
F.	Have you an access to the forest to	o get some <i>Olea</i> product?
	Yes	No
G.	Is Olea tree abundance increase o	r decrease in the forest?
	Increase	Decrease

H. Do you know the reason why increased or decreased? (please describe by comparing the past and current)

Part II. Questions about fuelwood

- 1. What type of energy sources do you have?
- 2. Which one is commonly used and why?
- 3. Do you use fuelwood for cooking?
- 4. Would you mention the name of tree species used for fuelwood?
- 5. Which plant species is highly demanded for fuelwood?
- 6. What is the reason for the above question?
- 7. Do you use *Olea* tree as a fuel wood?
- 8. No. of years using Olea for fuel wood_____
- 9. How much Olea wood do you use for cooking once? (in quantity)

10. From where do you get Olea wood?

Part III. <u>Question about fumigation</u>

1. No. of years using *Olea* for fumigation: ______

2.	What is the purpose of being fumigated?
3.	Do you use different plant species for fumigation?
4.	Please list down the name of the species used for fumigation?
5.	Which species are used for what purpose?
6.	Do you use <i>Olea</i> for fumigating your home?
7.	Do you mix <i>Olea</i> with other species for fumigation purpose?
8.	If yes, how much would be the quantity of <i>Olea</i> in the mixture?
9.	Where do you get the <i>Olea</i> wood for fumigation?
	From home garden from hugumbirda the forest
from the l	ocal market from Gebriel church
If you kno	ow another means to get Olea, please
specify	

10. If your answer for the ninth question is from the market, how much does it cost you to buy a bundle of *Olea* wood for fumigation purpose (in birr)?

11. In the local market, in what way *Olea* is being sold?

Bundle of Olea wood in kg
12. How much weight would be the bundle of <i>Olea</i> in Kg?
13. Which gender is frequently fumigated with <i>Olea</i> smoke?
Female male
14. Why male or female is frequently fumigated with <i>Olea</i> smoke?
15. How frequent you use <i>Olea</i> wood for fumigating your home?
16. How much time will you spend by being fumigated once?
17. For fumigating once, how much <i>Olea</i> wood do you use?
16. How could you prepare <i>Olea</i> woods for fumigation purpose?
18. In which season fumigation with <i>Olea</i> is highly demanded?
19. Why is that season? (Based on question 19)

Part IV. Question for farming equipment

- 1. When did you start farming?
- 2. What are the major type of farm implements made of woods?
- 3. Do you use Olea tree for farming implements?



- 4. No. of years in using *Olea* for farm implements:
- 5. Would you mention the type of farming implements that can be made from *Olea* wood?
- 6. What is the frequency of replacement of your Olea made farm implements?
- 7. Where do you get the Olea wood for making farming implements?
- 8. Why do you prefer Olea than other species?
- 9. Is there another species used for making farming implements?
- 10. Please mention the name of other species used for making farming implements?

Part V. Questions for livestock forage

1 . DU YUU HAYC HYCSLUCK.	1.	Do v	ou hav	e lives	tock?
----------------------------------	----	------	--------	---------	-------

2.	How	many	cattle	do y	ou have?	?

- 3. How many sheep do you have?
- 4. How many goats do you have and what do you feed them?
- 5. What do you feed your cattle?
- 6. Do you get some fodder for your livestock from the Hugumbirda forest?

Yes	0
-----	---

7. Do you use Olea tree as a fodder for your cattle?

	Yes		No
--	-----	--	----

8. If your answer is yes, would you tell us the place where you get Olea?

9. Which part of the Olea tree is highly preferred for fodder?

10. In which season, Olea fodder is highly demanded?

11. Why is that season? (based on question 15)

Part VI. <u>Questions about Olea toothbrush</u>
1. No. of years in using Olea toothbrush:
2. Which kind of toothbrush do you choose?
Natural Fabricated
3. If your answer for the first question is natural, then why you choose natural
toothbrush than the fabricated one?
4. Do you use <i>Olea</i> tree as a toothbrush?
Yes
5. Which thickness of <i>Olea</i> tree is more preferred one?
6. Where do you get <i>Olea</i> toothbrush?
7. What is your favorite type of natural toothbrush?
• If your answer for the above question is other species, please specify your
favorite type of toothbrush species
8. Have you an experience of buying <i>Olea</i> toothbrush?
Yes No

10. Do yo	u know any s Yes Ir answer is	supplier that s yes for the al	upplies <i>Oled</i> bove questic	toothbrush?	m where
suppl	ier get <i>Olea</i> t	oothbrush?			
12. Have	you planted	<i>Olea</i> tree in yo	our garden?		

Part VII. Preference ranking

13. Which part of *Olea* tree is frequently used for fumigation?

No	Olea	Respondents rank										Rank	Remark
	tree	R1	R2	R3	R4	R5	R6	R7	R8	R9	R10		
	parts												
	bark												
	leaves												
-	braches												
	stem												

root						

14. Which part of *Olea* tree is frequently used for fuel?

No	Olea	Respondents rank									Rank	Remark	
	tree	R1	R2	R3	R4	R5	R6	R7	R8	R9	R10		
	parts												
	bark												
	leaves												
	braches												
	stem												
	root												

15. Which part of Olea tree part is preferred for farm implements?

No	Olea tree parts	Respondents rank									Rank	Remark	
		R1	R2	R3	R4	R5	R6	R7	R8	R9	R10		
	Sap wood												
	Heart wood												
	braches												
	stem												
	root												

Paper I

Journal of Arid Environments 158 (2018) 19-27

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Arid Environments

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jaridenv

Locally endangered tree species in a dry montane forest are enhanced by high woody species richness but affected by human disturbance



Mekdes Ourge Wegasie^{a,b,*}, Katrine Eldegard^a, Kari Klanderud^a, Sarah Tewolde-Berhan^b, Kidane Giday^b, Ørjan Totland^{a,c}

^a Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 5003, NO-1433, Ås, Norway

^b College of Dryland Agriculture and Natural Resources, Mekelle University, P.O. Box 213, Mekelle, Ethiopia

^c Department of Biology, University of Bergen, P.O. Box 7800, N-5020, Bergen, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Dry forest Forest conservation Hugumburda Illegal logging Juniperus procera Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata

ABSTRACT

Understanding the relationship between biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors in dry degraded forests is crucial for effective conservation of endangered plant species. We studied the relationship between two locally endangered tree species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* and *Juniperus procera*, and environmental conditions in the Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in Northern Ethiopia. We surveyed species richness of woody plants, herbaceous plant cover, soil and human disturbance factors from 70 plots ($20 \text{ m} \times 20 \text{ m}$). The abundance of both species was positively correlated with each other, and with woody species richness and elevation. Moreover, the biomass of both species correlated positively with total tree biomass and number of *O. europaea* cut stumps. The positive relationship between *O. europaea* trees and cut stumps suggests that illegal selective logging is taking place in *O. europaea*-dominated areas. Based on the observed relationships we predict that conserving woody species may result in an increase in the abundance of both *O. europaea* and *J. procera* in the forest.

1. Introduction

In the tropics, human-induced natural forest degradation has become a serious problem (Lamb et al., 2005; Parrotta et al., 1997; Watson et al., 2014), and threatens the abundance of multi-purpose plant species. The cover of the world's natural forests is decreasing annually by 0.5% (Brockerhoff et al., 2013), which is reducing the benefits received from these areas by way of ecological services (Isbell et al., 2017; Teketay, 2001). To protect degraded forest with the aims of conserving endangered plant species in situ and maintaining ecological services, a program of establishing National Forest Priority Areas has been launched in different biodiversity hot-spots, including natural forest (M. Bekele and Berhanu, 2001; Margules et al., 2002; Veríssimo et al., 2002; Watson et al., 2014). But simply establishing protected areas may not be sufficient to conserve endangered plant species (Schemske et al., 1994). Therefore, studying the relationship between biotic and abiotic factors in protected areas may contribute positively to the goal of restoring degraded areas (Callaway and Walker, 1997; Holl et al., 2000; Michalet et al., 2006).

One of the determinants of plant species coexistence, and a key factor controlling plant species composition and distribution, is the

relationship between biotic factors, such as richness and abundance of plant species, and the abiotic components of an ecosystem (Kimmins, 2009; Maestre et al., 2010; Shirima et al., 2015). For biotic factors, plant-plant interactions can involve either facilitation or competition (Leigh, 1999; Maestre et al., 2005). Facilitation, in which the presence of one species positively influences the abundance of another, is common in arid environments. It is relevant when conserving endangered tree species because such species may depend on interactions with others for their persistence. For instance, pioneer plants may facilitate the growth and abundance of the later plant species by ameliorating site conditions (Duncan and Chapman, 2003; Gómez-aparicio et al., 2004). In addition to biotic factors, abiotic factors such as elevation (used as a proxy for temperature), slope and soil parameters, together with natural and human-induced disturbances, also determine the plant-species composition and diversity in a forest (Williams-Linera and Lorea, 2009). For instance, in dry Afromontane forests, late successional plants are more abundant at higher elevation than low elevations (Aerts et al., 2011).

The Hugumburda forest is one of the 58 National Forest Priority Areas in Ethiopia, established to conserve biodiversity in the face of severe forest degradation in recent decades (Woldemichael et al.,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2018.08.001

Received 9 January 2018; Received in revised form 18 July 2018; Accepted 14 August 2018

Available online 23 August 2018

0140-1963/ © 2018 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding author. Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 5003, NO-1433, Ås, Norway.

E-mail address: mekdes.ourge@nmbu.no (M.O. Wegasie).

2010). Dry montane forests have relatively low woody species richness, and this particular forest area is dominated by the late successional plant species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* (here after *O. europaea*) and *Juniperus procera* (hereafter *J. procera*) (Betemariam, 2011). The local communities use both *O. europaea* and *J. procera* in several ways, such as for farm implements, fuelwood, construction material, and medicine. In this study, we focus on these two species because they are threatened by over-exploitation and are considered locally endangered (Berhe and Negash, 1998; CBD, 2009; Negash, 2003; Viswanathan, 1986). Woldemichael et al. (2010) and Betemariam (2011) have previously studied vegetation structure in the study area, but we still lack information on how these two species relate ecologically to each other and to various biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors in the forest. Such knowledge is urgently needed for developing effective conservation measures.

This study examines how biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors influence the abundance and biomass of these two key dry Afromontane forest species. We pose three questions: (1) Is there a relationship between the abundance of *O. europaea* and *J. procera*? (2) How do abundance and biomass of these species correlate with biotic and abiotic variables? (3) Are the abundances of the two species affected by human disturbance?

2. Methods and materials

2.1. Study area

Hugumburda national forest priority area (12° 36'N, 39° 31' E) is situated in southern Tigray, Ethiopia. Elevation ranges from 1860-2700 m above sea level. Average annual rainfall ranges from 800-1000 mm. Mean daily temperature is 14-22.4 °C, with a minimum of 8.8–10.7 °C in October and a maximum of 34.3 °C in June (Worku, 1998). The topography of the study area is mainly undulating to sharp terrain. Soils are shallow, with leptosols and regosols as the dominant soil types.

The total study area is ca. 8103 ha, and includes plantation forest, disturbed natural forest and some settlements and agricultural fields on the fringes of the forest. The area was previously densely forested with substantial numbers of the dominant indigenous plant species such as *Juniperus procera*, *Olea europaea* subsp.cuspidata, *Nuxia congesta*, *Cassipourea mallosana* and *Olinia rochetiana* (Betemariam, 2011; Sileshi and Abraha, 2014; Woldemichael et al., 2010). Although the forest is protected, making it illegal to cut trees, and is guarded by ca. 50 forest rangers, illegal logging still occurs.

2.2. Study species

Olea europaea occurs primarily in arid areas between 1250 and 3100 m a.s.l. Adult trees are commonly 15 m high, but can reach 25 m (Friis, 1992). The species occurs in marshy areas, dry lands, stony places and on mountain sides, where it tolerates a wide range of environmental conditions, including frost and drought (Bekele-Tesemma and Tengnäs, 2007). The wood is commonly used for fencing, making farm implements and manufacturing home furniture. The unique fragrance of the smoke of burnt *O. europaea* wood flavors and enhances traditional drinks and repels insects. The species is a medicinal plant in southeastern Ethiopia.

Juniperus procera is one of the characteristic tree species of dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia. It is evergreen and can be up to 45 m tall at an age of 150 years. It is most abundant in the transition zone between dry and semi-evergreen forest. It often occurs together with *O. europaea* and *Podocarpus falcatus* (Berhe and Negash, 1998; Pohjonen and Pukkala, 1992). Its economic importance is considerable, being a raw material for home furniture, poles, fences and in the manufacture of lead pencils. Although globally categorized as a Least concern species (IUCN, 2017), *J.procera* suffers from widespread logging and its population is declining in Ethiopia. Thus, it needs an in-situ strategy for conservation (Aynekulu et al., 2009; CBD, 2009; Negash, 2002; Viswanathan, 1986).

2.3. Field data collection

Seventy 20 × 20 m plots were positioned on forested slopes at elevations of 2233–2503 m a.s.l. The plots were distributed about 100 m apart along parallel transects placed perpendicular to three local terrain ridges, each transect running from the top to the bottom of the ridge. The distance between neighboring transects was ca. 150 m.

In each 20 × 20 m main plot, we identified, counted and recorded all adult trees and shrubs to species level. We measured stem diameter at breast height (DBH) of individual trees, basal diameter (BH) for each shrub, and the heights of both (West, 2009). The abundance and species identities of saplings were recorded in one 5 × 5 m sub-plot, placed in the center of each main plot. The number and identities of seedlings were recorded in five 1 × 1 m small plots, one placed in the center of each main plot and four at the corners of each 5 × 5 m sub-plot. We also visually determined the percent cover (to the nearest 1%) of herbaceous species within each 1 × 1 m small plot. For calculating species richness, we used plant height and diameter at breast height to classify each woody individual into adult, sapling or seedling: adults (DBH \geq 2 cm), saplings (height \leq 1.3 m and DBH \leq 2 cm) and seedlings (height \leq 0.3 m).

We sampled environmental conditions in the same plots as vegetation data. To quantify human disturbance, we used a tape measure to quantify the total length (m) of human footpaths in each main plot, using these tracks as one indicator of disturbance. We also counted the number of cut O. europaea stumps. Slope and elevation were measured in the center of each main plot with a clinometer and a handheld GPS respectively. For each of the 70 main plots, two separate soil samples were collected for soil moisture content (by soil core samplers) and chemical analysis. For soil chemical analysis we used a composite of five samples (top soil to 15 cm depth) collected at the center of each 1×1 m plot. The soil samples were sealed in a double plastic bag to preserve the soil moisture. All soil samples were transported to Mekelle Agricultural Research Center laboratory in Mekelle. Soil moisture was measured gravimetrically (Black et al., 1965). The composite soil samples were then air-dried at a room temperature and sieved through a 2-mm mesh. Soil pH (at 1:2.5 soil/H2O), electrical conductivity and soil organic matter (Walkley-Black method) were measured using standard techniques (Nelson and Sommers, 1996). Soil depth was measured in the field by digging a pit at the center of the main plot down to bedrock.

2.4. Data analysis

2.4.1. Data preparation

To determine total woody species richness, we pooled all woody species (trees and shrubs) occurring in each main plot (adults), sub-plot (saplings) and small plots (seedlings). Woody species abundance was the number of adult individuals of each species counted in each main plot (expressed as a density, number per m²). Herbaceous cover was estimated as percentage cover and converted to proportions before data analyses.

The Above-ground biomass (AGB) of adult trees was calculated using the allometric equation developed by Chave et al. (2014).

$$AGB = 0.0673 * (WD * DBH2 * H) \exp(0.976)$$
 (1)

Where WD = wood density (g/cm^3) , DBH = diameter at breast height (cm) and H = height (m).

For all tree species, we used an average wood density value of 0.612g/cm³ obtained from the global wood density database (Ministry Of Environment, 2016; Zanne et al., 2009).

2.4.2. Statistical analysis

The dataset was subjected to initial exploratory analyses following Zuur et al. (2010) to check for outliers and collinearity between candidate explanatory variables and to explore relationships between *O. europaea* and *J. procera* abundance and biomass and explanatory variables. To determine if there is a relationship between the abundance of *O. europaea* and *J. procera* trees, we fitted a generalized linear model, assuming a Poisson distribution of errors. However, this model was over-dispersed (generalized Pearson statistic gPs = 3.53). Therefore, we re-fitted the model with a negative binomial GLM (gPs = 0.95). Because of a strong correlation between *O. europaea* and *J. procera* abundance and biomass, we ran separate analyses for the two species to determine how the abundance and biomass of the two species were related to environmental conditions.

To reduce model complexity, we carried out a pre-selection of variables, fitting single-variable models for the relationship between 1) *O. europaea* abundance, 2) *O. europaea* biomass, 3) *J. procera* abundance and 4) *J. procera* biomass and each of the candidate biotic variables (woody species richness, total above-ground biomass of all tree species except *O. europaea* and *J. procera*, cover of herbaceous plants), abiotic variables (soil depth, soil pH, soil electrical conductivity, organic matter percentage, soil moisture, slope, elevation) and human disturbance variables (total track length, number of *O. europaea* stumps). Only explanatory variables that had a statistically significant influence (p < 0.05) on the response in single-variable models, were included in the full (most complex) models.

For the abundance response variables, we fitted negative binomial GLMs because Poisson GLMs were over-dispersed. For the biomass response variables, we fitted linear models, assuming normally distributed errors. To avoid collinearity, we made a correlation matrix with Pearson correlation coefficients (r) for all possible pairs of candidate explanatory variables. In cases where r > 0.6, we selected the variable most strongly correlated with the response (i.e., the highest r-value) for inclusion in the most complex model, while at the same time avoiding collinearity with other variables.

For *O. europaea* abundance, we initially fitted a full model with the main effects being woody species richness, herbaceous cover, number of *O. europaea* stumps, elevation and slope. We also included the quadratic term of herbaceous cover, to capture curvilinear relationships detected in the exploratory analyses. For *O. europaea* biomass, we first fitted a full model with tree biomass, track length, herbaceous cover, number of *O. europaea* stumps, and soil moisture as the main effects. We also included the quadratic terms of track length and herbaceous cover. As an outlier appeared to influence the track length response considerably, we re-run the model without the outlier. Then, track length was not significant anymore, whereas the other variables did not change. We decided to run the model without the outlier and thus without track length in the final model.

Initially, we did not consider *J. procera* abundance and biomass as response variables. However, during data exploration we found that *J. procera* was as dominant as the *O. europaea* trees in the forest, and we found that it had a strong relationship with *O. europaea*. Because *J. procera* is also a species of particular conservation interest, and to deal with the collinearity, we treated *J. procera* abundance and biomass as response variables in our analyses. For *J. procera* abundance, we fitted a full model with woody species richness, tree biomass, and elevation as the main effects. For *J. procera* biomass, we initially fitted a full model with the main effects being tree biomass and number of *O. europaea* stumps.

We carried out model selection by backward elimination, sequentially deleting non-significant terms (likelihood ratio test, p < 0.05) (Crawley, 2013). The variance inflation factor (VIF) values were < 5 for all combinations of the explanatory variables in the final models. Graphical validation of the final models indicated adequate fit. We used the R 3.2.5 software for all analyses (R-Development Core Team, 2016). 2.4.2.1. Olea europaea and J. procera abundance and community composition of woody species. Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) was performed to investigate the association between the abundance of O. europaea and J. procera, the environmental variables that influenced these response variables in the GLMs, and community composition of woody species. NMDS was based on Jaccard dissimilarity matrix calculated from the presence-absence of adult tree and shrub species in each plot. We used the metaMDS function in the vegan package in R (Oksanen et al., 2013), with 1000 random starting points. The squared correlation coefficient (R²) was used to define the relationship between the environmental gradients and ordination axes scores. The importance of each environmental variable was assessed from the squared correlation coefficient (R²) between the environmental variable and the ordination axes, and the significance of factor variables was assessed using R² as a goodness-offit statistic for the whole factor. The statistical significance (p-values) of both vector and factor variables was based on random permutations of the data. To assess which environmental variables (woody species richness, tree biomass, J. procera, O. europaea and elevation) had most influence on species composition, we used the envfit command to fit vectors (continuous variables) of environmental variables onto the NMDS ordination. To choose an appropriate number of dimensions (k), we performed ordinations of progressively higher dimensions (k = 2 to k = 5), which produced stress values of 0.212, 0.151, 0.118 and 0.094, respectively. We opted to represent our data in three dimensions (linear fit: $R^2 = 0.85$) to lessen complexity.

3. Results

3.1. Abundance and aboveground biomass relationship between O. europaea and J. procera

The abundances of *O. europaea* and *J. procera* were positively correlated, with the abundance of *O. europaea* doubling when the number of *J. procera* increased from zero to 15 per plot (Fig. 1a).

The aboveground biomass of *O. europaea* was also positively linearly related to that of *J. procera* (Fig. 1b). When *J. procera* biomass increased from zero to 50 kg per plot, *O. europaea* biomass increased at half that rate.

3.2. Factors influencing O. europaea abundance

The negative binomial model explained 42% of the variation in the abundance of *O. europaea* (Table 1). We found a significant positive relationship between *O. europaea* abundance and woody species richness, herbaceous cover, elevation, slope, and number of *O. europaea* stumps, although the influence of herbaceous cover levelled off when it exceeded ca. 25% (Table 1, Fig. 2). For example, with an increase in woody species richness from 10 to 20, the abundance of *O. europaea* doubled. *Olea europaea* was more abundant at higher elevations and on steeper slopes.

3.3. Factors influencing O. europaea biomass

The linear regression model explained 45% of the variation in *O. europaea* biomass (Table 2). *O. europaea* biomass was positively correlated with total aboveground tree biomass, herbaceous cover (%), soil moisture, and *O. europaea* stumps (Table 2 and Fig. 3). For instance, *O. europaea* biomass increased by 10 kg/plot when the amount of total aboveground tree biomass increased from zero to 50 kg/plot. *O. europaea* stumps.

3.4. Factors influencing J. procera abundance

The negative binomial model explained 45% of the variation in the



Fig. 1. The relationship between abundance (a, negative binomial model) and biomass (b, linear regression model) of *J. procera* and *O. europaea* in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. The solid lines indicate the fitted lines and the shaded polygons are the 95% confidence intervals. Open circles show observed values.

Table 1

Factors influencing *O. europaea* abundance in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. The table shows parameter estimates and associated standard errors for a negative binomial model of the relationship between *O. europaea* abundance and the explanatory variables retained in the final model ($R^2 = 0.42$).

	Estimate	SE	z	Р
Intercept	-7.50	2.80	-2.7	0.006
Woody species richness	0.08	0.02	2.5	0.010
(Herbaceous cover) ²	-7.60	3.30	-2.3	0.021
Herbaceous cover (%)	3.40	1.60	2.1	0.032
Elevation (m)	0.01	0.00	2.8	0.005
Slope (°)	0.96	0.32	3.0	0.002
Number of O. europaea stumps	0.09	0.02	4.0	< 0.001

abundance of *J. procera* (Table 3). The abundance of *J. procera* was positively related to woody species richness, tree biomass and elevation (Table 3, Fig. 4). For instance, the abundance of *J. procera* tripled when tree biomass increased from 50 to 200 kg/plot. The abundance of *J. procera* doubled when total richness increased from 10 to 20 per plot.

3.5. Factors influencing J. procera biomass

The linear regression model explained 27% of variation in *J. procera* biomass in Hugumburda forest (Table 4). There was a positive relationship between *J. procera* biomass and woody species richness and elevation (Fig. 5). *J. procera* biomass doubled when woody species richness increased from 13 to 20, and *J. procera* biomass also increased when elevation increased.

3.6. Relationships among variables overall

The ordination plot (Fig. 6) shows the co-occurrence of shrub and tree species composition along the environmental gradients, and their association with *O. europaea* and *J. procera*. All variables: *O. europaea*, *J. procera*, woody species richness, elevation and tree biomass correlated with the three first NMDS axes (Table 5). The shrubs Dodonaea angustifolia and Euclea racemosa (both pioneers), Jasminum congesta and Heteromorpha trifoliata, and the tree species Teclea simplicifolia and Pittosporum viridiflorum, are strongly associated with both *O. europaea* and *J. procera* abundance in the forest. Conversely, tree species like Cupressus lusitanica, Maytenus undata and Olinia rochetania and the shrub Calpurnia aurea were negatively associated with both *O. europaea* and *J. procera* abundance (Fig. 6).

4. Discussion

We found a positive relationship between the abundance and biomass of *J. procera* and *O. europaea*. This is relevant for conservation, as it suggests that there is no negative relationship between them, and thus the dominance of one will likely not threaten the other. We hypothesize that this pattern may be due to facilitation (Gómez-aparicio, 2009), which could promote co-existence of these two dominant trees. Experiments by Aerts et al. (2006a) show that *O. europaea* is shadetolerant, whereas *J. procera* is shade-intolerant (Aynekulu et al., 2009). Thus, it is possible that *J. procera* provides shade for *O. europaea*, thereby facilitating its abundance in this dry environment (Yirdaw, 2001). Michelsen et al (1993) also reported that soils in areas dominated by *J. procera* are relatively nutrient rich. An alternative hypothesis is that niche partitioning between these two species (Valladares et al., 2015). Niche partitioning might take place between abundant tree



Table 2

Factors influencing *O. europaea* biomass in Hugumburda. The table shows results from a linear regression model fit between aboveground *O. europaea* biomass and the explanatory variables retained in the final model ($R^2 = 0.45$).

Intercept -7.36 2.84 -2.6 0.006 Tree biomass (kg/m ²) 0.09 0.03 3.0 0.004 (Herbaceous cover) ² -116.80 38.87 -3.0 0.004 Herbaceous cover (%) 55.03 19.06 2.9 0.005 Soil moisture (g) 0.20 0.08 2.4 0.020		Estimate	SE	t	Р
Number of 0. europaed stumps 1.52 0.28 5.4 < 0.001	Intercept	-7.36	2.84	- 2.6	0.006
	Tree biomass (kg/m ²)	0.09	0.03	3.0	0.004
	(Herbaceous cover) ²	-116.80	38.87	- 3.0	0.004
	Herbaceous cover (%)	55.03	19.06	2.9	0.005
	Soil moisture (g)	0.20	0.08	2.4	0.020
	Number of <i>O. europaea</i> stumps	1.52	0.28	5.4	< 0.001

species in arid areas, suggesting that the two abundant tree species coexist because they have different resource requirements (Fetene and Feleke, 2001; Hubbell, 1980; Peterson et al., 2013).

Our results also show a positive relationship between both the abundance and biomass of J. procera and O. europaea and woody species richness. Based on this, woody species richness may enhance the abundance of these two species by ameliorating environmental conditions. After disturbance in arid areas, early successional species, such as Dodonaea angustifolia and Euclea racemosa, could increase soil fertility and ameliorate the environment by providing shade and soil moisture for late succession species, such as O. europaea and J. procera (Gómezaparicio et al., 2004; Zanini and Ganade, 2005)? We also observed a significant positive relationship in our study area between soil moisture content and O. europaea biomass. This could be due to shading resulting from the combined influence of abundant O. europaea trees and other species, as reflected in high woody species richness. Maestre et al. (2012) showed that woody species richness can positively influence abiotic environmental factors, for instance by increasing soil fertility through facilitating carbon and nitrogen cycling in dry forest ecosystems. Similar processes could explain the positive relationship between woody species richness and the abundance of O. europaea and J. procera in our study area. In contrast (Shirima et al., 2015), suggest that dominant tree species had a negative effect (competition) on woody species richness in Miombo woodland in Tanzania. This is, however, a

Elevation (m.a.s.l)

Journal of Arid Environments 158 (2018) 19-27

Fig. 2. Estimated relationships between O. europaea abundance and biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors in Hugumburda. Figures show results from negative binomial models. The solid lines show estimated relationship between the response variable and each of the explanatory variables, in single-variable models with only one explanatory variable. The shaded polygons are the associated 95% confidence intervals. Open circles show observed values.

wetter and thereby less stressful ecosystem than our arid study area. In line with the stress-gradient hypothesis, suggesting facilitation being more common in conditions of high abiotic stress relative to more benign abiotic conditions, where competition is more prevalent (Maestre et al., 2009), we hypothesize that facilitation might be more important than competition in determining plant species co-occurrence in arid systems such as Hugumburda.

We found a positive relationship between herbaceous cover and *O. europaea* abundance up to ca. 25% cover; thereafter it levelled off. A forest dominated by *J. procera* has high soil nutrient content (Michelsen et al. (1993). Improved soil fertility could enhance the growth of herbaceous plants (Berhe and Negash, 1998; Jennings et al., 1999), but in areas of greater tree density, where canopy gaps are fewer and smaller, low light levels may reduce ground cover and seedling growth. This could explain why herbaceous cover levelled off where *O. europaea* was abundant, perhaps indicating overall high abundance of overstorey plant species generally, including *O. europaea* and *J. procera* (Yirdaw, 2001).

We found a positive relationship between the abundance of O. europaea and elevation and slope. J. procera abundance was also positively related to elevation. This suggests that topographic factors such as slope and elevation may play a significant role in the distribution of O. europaea and J. procera in these mountains (Måren et al., 2015; Mehnatkesh et al., 2013). Abiotic factors such as soil depth and moisture may in turn be affected by elevation. For instance, shallow soil depth was observed at higher elevations in the same study area (Betemariam, 2011). This could mean a lower soil moisture content at higher elevations because of shallow soils and rocky ground, although the positive relationship between O. europaea abundance and soil moisture suggests a canopy effect (microclimate improvement) by woody species on the surrounding soil (Gómez-aparicio et al., 2005). Alternatively, the abundance of deep-rooted tree species, such as J. procera and O. europaea, may increase with elevation because they can grow on rocky ground at higher altitudes and withstand the dry climate better than shallow-rooted species (Aerts et al., 2006b; T. Bekele, 2000; Wubet et al., 2003).



Fig. 3. Relationships between aboveground O. europaea biomass and biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors in Hugumburda. Figures show results from linear regression models. Solid lines show estimated relationship between the response variable and each of the explanatory variables, in single-variable models with only one explanatory variable. The shaded polygons are the associated 95% confidence intervals. Open circles show observed values.

Table 3

Factors influencing *J. procera* abundance in Hugumburda. The table shows parameter estimates and associated standard errors for a negative binomial model of the relationship between *J. procera* abundance and the explanatory variables retained in the final model ($R^2 = 0.45$).

	Estimate	SE	Z	Р
Intercept	-13.78	4.36	- 3.2	0.001
Woody species richness	0.06	0.03	2.2	0.030
Tree biomass (kg/plot)	0.01	0.01	3.0	0.003
Elevation (m.a.s.l.)	0.01	0.01	3.1	0.001

Both the biomass and the abundance of *O. europaea*, and the number of cut *O. europaea* stumps in the forest were positively correlated. This may suggest that the local community mainly cut stumps in dense stands of *O. europaea*, and is in line with the findings of (Kidane et al., 2016; Woldemichael et al., 2010), who documented intensive illegal harvesting of *O. europaea* occurring in the forest. Human activities, such as forest clearance for agriculture and illegal harvesting, are the main drivers of land-use change from primary to secondary forests (Mcgill, 2015; Newbold et al., 2015). Illegal harvesting was the main form of human disturbance in Hugumburda. Further research is needed to understand how other disturbance factors, such as grazing intensity, fuelwood collection and expansion of farmland into the forest reserve,





Table 4

Factors influencing *J. procera* biomass in Hugumburda. The table shows a summary of statistical estimates from a simple linear regression model fit between aboveground *J. procera* biomass and the explanatory variables retained in the final model ($R^2 = 0.27$).

	Estimate	SE	t	Р
Intercept	-340.7	90.70	- 3.8	< 0.001
Woody species richness	1.4	0.60	2.2	0.030
Elevation (m.a.s.l.)	0.1	0.04	3.6	< 0.001

influence the abundance of O. europaea and J. procera.

5. Conclusion and implication for management

As our study was not experimental, we cannot conclude with any causal relationships of the observed patterns. However, based on our observations, we suggest that conserving woody species richness would promote the conservation of the two multi-purpose tree species as well as the entire forest. The positive relationship between the abundance of *O. europaea* and cut stumps showed that selective illegal logging is common in *O. europaea*-rich areas in the forest. Controlling this could help the forest administrators conserve forest resources more widely.

Based on our findings, therefore, we conclude that the management



Fig. 4. Relationships between *J. procera* abundance and biotic and abiotic factors in Hugumburda. Figures show results from negative binomial models. Solid lines show estimated relationship between the response variable and each of the explanatory variables, in single-variable models with only one explanatory variable. The shaded polygons are the associated 95% confidence intervals. Open circles show observed values.



Fig. 6. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination of environmental gradients versus species composition. Environmental gradients are shown in red, tree species in brown, shrub species in dark green. Acacia abyssinica (Acac), Berberis holstii (Berb), Bersama abyssinica (Bers), Cadia purpurea (Cadi), Calpurnia aurea (Calp), Carissa edulis (Cari), Cassipourea malosana (Cass), Celtis africana (Celt), Clerodendron myricoides (Cler), Clutia abyssinica (Clut), Cupressus lusitanica (Cupri), Dovyalis verrucosta (D.ve), Dodonaoea angustifolia (Dodo), Dombeya torrida (Domb), Dovyalis abyssinica (Dovy), Ekebergia capensis (Ekeb), Euclea racemosa (Eucl), Heteromorpha trifoliata (Hete), Jasminum congesta (Jasm), Juniperus procera (Juni), Maytenus arbutifolia (M.ar), Maytenus undata (May), Maytenus undata (May), Myrsine africana (Myrs), Nuxia congesta (Nuxi), Olea europaea (Olea), Olinia rochetania (Olin), Osyris quadripartite (Osyr), Otostegia fruticosa (Otos), Pittosporum viridiflorum (Pitt), Podocarpus falcatus (Podo), Psydrax schimperiana (Psyd), Pterolobium stellatum (Pter), Rhus glutinosa (R.Gl), Rhus natalensis (Rhus), Sageretia thea (Sage) and Teclea simplicifolia (Tecl). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)

1.0

Fig. 5. Relationships between J. procera biomass and woody species richness and elevation in Hugumburda. Figures show results from linear regression models. Solid lines show estimated relationship between the response variable and each of the explanatory variables, in singlevariable models with only one explanatory variable. The shaded polygons are the associated 95% confidence intervals. Open circles show observed values.

Table 5

Squared correlation coefficients and associated P-values from permutation tests of the associations between *O. europaea* abundance, *J. procera* abundance, environmental gradients and NMDS axes.

Environmental Variables	NMDS 1 V	s <u>NMDS 2</u>	NMDS 1	<u>NMDS 1</u> Vs <u>NMDS 3</u>		
	r ²	Р	r ²	Р		
O. europaea abundance J. procera abundance Woody species richness Tree biomass (kg/plot) Elevation (m.a.s.l.)	0.079 0.222 0.511 0.145 0.309	0.057 0.001 0.001 0.007 0.001	0.126 0.257 0.433 0.174 0.314	0.010 0.002 < 0.001 0.002 < 0.001		

plan for conserving endangered tree species in dry montane forests should include the consideration for conserving other woody species, which in turn would promote the abundance of both locally endangered tree species.

Acknowledgment

We are grateful to Angesom Shishay and the local community for their assistance during the fieldwork. We thank Emiru Birhane for facilitating the research work, Mekelle University for logistical support, and Peter Frost for proof reading the manuscript. The NORAD/ NORHED-project: "Steps toward sustainable forest management with the local communities in Tigray, Northern Ethiopia (ETH-13/0018)", funded this study.

References

- Aerts, R., November, E., Van Der Borght, I., Behailu, M., Hermy, M., Muys, B., 2006a. Effects of pioneer shrubs on the recruitment of the fleshy-fruited tree Olea europaea ssp. cuspidata in Afromontane savanna. Appl. Vec. Sci. 9, 117–126.
- Aerts, R., Thijs, K.W., Lehouck, V., Beentje, H., Bytebier, B., Matthysen, E., Gulinck, H., Lens, L., Muys, B., 2011. Woody plant communities of isolated Afromontane cloud forests in Taita Hills. Kenva. Plant Ecol. 212. 639–649.
- Aerts, R., Van Overtveld, K., Haile, M., Hermy, M., Deckers, J., Muys, B., 2006b. Species composition and diversity of small Afromontane forest fragments in northern Ethiopia. Plant Ecol. 187, 127-142.
- Aynekulu, E., Denich, M., Tsegaye, D., 2009. Regeneration response of *Juniperus procera* and *Olea europaea* subsp. *Cuspidata* to exclosure in a dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethionia. Mr. Res. Dev. 29, 143–152.
- Bekele-Tesemma, A., Tengnäs, B., 2007. Useful Trees and Shrubs for Ethiopia: Identification, Propagation and Management for 17 Agroclimatic Zones, RELMA in ICRAF Project. World Agroforestry Centre, Eastern Africa Region.
- Bekele, M., Berhanu, L., 2001. State of Forest Genetic Resources in Ethiopia. Sub-regional Workshop FAO/IPGRI/ICRAF on the Conservation, Management, Sustainable Utilization and Enhancement of forest Genetic Resources in Sahelian and North-Sudanian Africa (Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, 22-24 September 1998). Forest Genetic Resources Working Papers. Working Paper Forestry Department, FAO, Rome.
- Bekele, T., 2000. Plant Population Dynamics of Dodonaea angustifolia and Olea europaea Ssp. Cuspidate in Dry Afromontane Forests of Ethiopia. Doctoral dissertation. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis.
- Berhe, D., Negash, L., 1998. Asexual propagation of *Juniperus procera* from Ethiopia: a contribution to the conservation of African pencil cedar. For. Ecol. Manag. 112, 179–190.
- Betemariam, E.A., 2011. Forest diversity in Fragmented Landscapes of Northern Ethiopia and Implications for Conservation. PhD thesis. Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms University, Bonn, pp. 134.
- Black, C.A., Evans, D., Dinauer, R., 1965. Methods of Soil Analysis. American Society of Agronomy Madison, WI.
- Brockerhoff, E.G., Jactel, H., Parrotta, J.A., Ferraz, S.F.B., 2013. Role of eucalypt and other planted forests in biodiversity conservation and the provision of biodiversityrelated ecosystem services. For. Ecol. Manag. 301, 43–50.
- Callaway, R.M., Walker, L.R., 1997. Competition and facilitation: a synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities. Ecology 78, 1958–1965.
- Chave, J., Réjou-méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M.S., Delitti, W.B., Duque, A., Eid, T., Fearnside, P.M., Goodman, R.C., 2014. Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. Global Change Biol. 20, 3177–3190.
- CBD, 2009. Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) Ethiopia's 4th Country Report. Addis Ababa. Institute of Biodiversity Conservation. https://www.cbd.int/doc/ world/et/et-nr-04-en.pdf, Accessed date: 16 May 2018.

Crawley, M.J., 2013. The R Book, second ed. Wiley, Chichester.

Duncan, R.S., Chapman, C.A., 2003. Tree-shrub interactions during early secondary forest succession in Uganda. Restor. Ecol. 11, 198–207.

- Fetene, M., Feleke, Y., 2001. Growth and photosynthesis of seedlings of four tree species from a dry tropical Afromontane forest. J. Trop. Ecol. 17, 269–283.
- Friis, I., 1992. Forests and forest Trees of Northeast Tropical Africa: Their Natural Habitats and Distribution Patterns in Ethiopia, Djibouti and Somalia. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London (UK) 1992.
- Gómez-aparicio, L., Gómez, J.M., Zamora, R., Boettinger, J.L., 2005. Canopy vs. soil effects of shrubs facilitating tree seedlings in Mediterranean montane ecosystems. J. Veg. Sci. 16, 191–198.
- Gómez-aparicio, L., Zamora, R., Gómez, J.M., Hódar, J.A., Castro, J., Baraza, E., 2004. Applying plant facilitation to forest restoration: a meta-analysis of the use of shrubs as nurse plants. Ecol. Appl. 14, 1128–1138.
- Gómez-aparicio, L., 2009. The role of plant interactions in the restoration of degraded ecosystems: a meta-analysis across life-forms and ecosystems. J. Ecol. 97, 1202–1214.
- Holl, K.D., Loik, M.E., Lin, E.H., Samuels, I.A., 2000. Tropical montane forest restoration in Costa Rica: overcoming barriers to dispersal and establishment. Restor. Ecol. 8, 339–349.
- Hubbell, S.P., 1980. Seed predation and the coexistence of tree species in tropical forests. Oikos 214–229.
- Isbell, F., Gonzalez, A., Loreau, M., Cowles, J., Díaz, S., Hector, A., Mace, G.M., Wardle, D.A., O'Connor, M.I., Duffy, J.E., 2017. Linking the influence and dependence of people on biodiversity across scales. Nature 546, 65–72.
- IUCN, 2017. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2017-3.
- Jennings, S., Brown, N., Sheil, D., 1999. Assessing forest canopies and understorey illumination: canopy closure, canopy cover and other measures. Forestry 72, 59-74. Kidane, L., Nemomissa, S., Woldu, Z., 2016. The effects of disturbance on the population
- Kidane, L., Nemomissa, S., Woldu, Z., 2016. The effects of disturbance on the population structure and regeneration potential of five dominant woody species--in Hugumburda-Grat khassu National Forest Priority Area, North-eastern Ethiopia. Afr. J. Ecol. 54, 20–28.
- Kimmins, J., 2009. Forest ecology. Eolss, Oxford, United Kingdom. Ecology-volume II. pp. 70.
- Lamb, D., Erskine, P.D., Parrotta, J.A., 2005. Restoration of degraded tropical forest landscapes. Science 310, 1628–1632.
- Leigh, E.G., 1999. Tropical forest Ecology: a View from Barro Colorado Island. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Maestre, F.T., Callaway, R.M., Valladares, F., Lortie, C.J., 2009. Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. J. Ecol. 97, 199–205.
- Maestre, F.T., Bowker, M.A., Escolar, C., Puche, M.D., Soliveres, S., Maltez-Mouro, S., García-Palacios, P., Castillo-Monroy, A.P., Martínez, I., Escudero, A., 2010. Do biotic interactions modulate ecosystem functioning along stress gradients? Insights from semi-arid plant and biological soil crust communities. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 365, 2057–2070.
- Maestre, F.T., Quero, J.L., Gotelli, N.J., Escudero, A., Ochoa, V., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., García-Gómez, M., Bowker, M.A., Soliveres, S., Escolar, C., 2012. Plant species richness and ecosystem multifunctionality in global drylands. Science 335, 214–218.
- Maestre, F.T., Valladares, F., Reynolds, J.F., 2005. Is the change of plant-plant interactions with abiotic stress predictable? A meta-analysis of field results in arid enterior protocol and plant an
- vironments. J. Ecol. 93, 748–757.
 Margules, C.R., Pressey, R., Williams, P., 2002. Representing biodiversity: data and procedures for identifying priority areas for conservation. J. Biosci. 27, 309–326.
- Mcgill, B., 2015. Biodiversity: land use matters. Nature 520, 38-39.
- Mehnatkesh, A., Ayoubi, S., Jalalian, A., Sahrawat, K.L., 2013. Relationships between soil depth and terrain attributes in a semi-arid hilly region in western Iran. J. Mt. Sci. 10, 163.
- Michalet, R., Brooker, R.W., Cavieres, L.A., Kikvidze, Z., Lortie, C.J., Pugnaire, F.I., Valiente-Banuet, A., Callaway, R.M., 2006. Do biotic interactions shape both sides of the humped-back model of species richness in plant communities? Ecol. Lett. 9, 767–773.
- Michelsen, A., Lisanework, N., Friis, I., 1993. Impacts of tree plantations in the Ethiopian highland on soil fertility, shoot and root growth, nutrient utilisation and mycorrhizal colonisation. For. Ecol. Manag. 61, 1299–324.
- Ministry Of Environment, 2016. Ethiopia's forest Reference Level Submission to the UNFCCC.
- Måren, I.E., Karki, S., Prajapati, C., Yadav, R.K., Shrestha, B.B., 2015. Facing north or south: does slope aspect impact forest stand characteristics and soil properties in a semiarid trans-Himalayan valley? J. Arid Environ. 121, 112–123.
- Negash, L., 2002. Successful vegetative propagation techniques for the threatened African pencil cedar (*Juniperus procera* Hoechst. ex Endl.). For. Ecol. Manag. 161, 53–64. Negash, L., 2003. Vegetative propagation of the threatened African wild olive (Olea
- europaea L. subsp. cuspidata (Wall. ex DC.) Ciffieri]. N. For. 26, 137–146.
- Nelson, D.W., Sommers, L.E., 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. In: Sparks, D.L. (Ed.), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3, Chemical Methods, SSSA Book Series No. 5, SSSA and ASA, Madison, WI, pp. 961–1010.
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L.N., Hill, S.L., Contu, S., Lysenko, I., Senior, R.A., Börger, L., Bennett, D.J., Choimes, A., Collen, B., 2015. Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. Nature 520, 45–50.
- Oksanen, J.F., Blanchet, G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, R.P., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, L.G., Solymos, P.M., Henry, H.S., Wagner, H., 2013. Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R Package Version, 2.0-7.
- Parrotta, J.A., Turnbull, J.W., Jones, N., 1997. Catalyzing native forest regeneration on degraded tropical lands. For. Ecol. Manag. 99, 1–7.
- Peterson, M.L., Rice, K.J., Sexton, J.P., 2013. Niche partitioning between close relatives suggests trade-offs between adaptation to local environments and competition. Ecol. Evol. 3, 512–522.
- Pohjonen, V., Pukkala, T., 1992. Juniperus procera Hocht. ex. Endl. in Ethiopian forestry. For. Ecol. Manag. 49, 75–85.

- Schemske, D.W., Husband, B.C., Ruckelshaus, M.H., Goodwillie, C., Parker, I.M., Bishop, J.G., 1994. Evaluating approaches to the conservation of rare and endangered plants. Ecology 75, 584–506.
- Shirima, D.D., Totland, Ø., Munishi, P.K., Moe, S.R., 2015. Does the abundance of dominant trees affect diversity of a widespread tropical woodland ecosystem in Tanzania? J. Trop. Ecol. 31, 345–359.
- Sileshi, D., Abraha, B., 2014. Assessment of soil seedbank composition of woody species in Hugumburda national forest priority area, northeastern Ethiopia. Momona Ethiop. J. Sci. 6, 25–44.
- Teketay, D., 2001. Deforestation, wood famine, and environmental degradation in Ethiopia's highland ecosystems: urgent need for action. NE Afr. Stud. 8, 53–76. Valladares, F., Bastias, C.C., Godoy, O., Granda, E., Escudero, A., 2015. Species coexistence in a changing world. Front. Plant Sci. 6, 866.
- istence in a changing world. Front. Plant Sci. 6, 866. Veríssimo, A., Cochrane, M., Souza JR., C., Salomão, R., 2002. Priority areas for estab-
- lishing national forests in the Brazilian Amazon. Conserv. Ecol. 6 (1). Viswanathan, T., 1986. Endangered tree species in northern Ethiopia. Environ. Conserv.
- 13, 71–72. Watson, J.E., Dudley, N., Segan, D.B., Hockings, M., 2014. The performance and potential
- of protected areas. Nature 515, 67. West, P.W., 2009. Tree Height. Tree and Forest Measurement. Springer Berlin Heidelberg,
- Berlin, Heidelberg.

Williams-Linera, G., Lorea, F., 2009. Tree species diversity driven by environmental and anthropogenic factors in tropical dry forest fragments of central Veracruz, Mexico. Biodivers. Conserv. 18, 3269–3293.

Woldemichael, L.K., Bekele, T., Nemomissa, S., 2010. Vegetation composition in Hugumbirda-Gratkhassu national forest priority area, South Tigray. Momona Ethiop. J. Sci. 2, 27–48.

- Worku, A., 1998. Hugumburda-grathahassu forest Management Plan. National Regional State of Tigray, Bureau of Agriculture and Natural Resources Development, Mekelle, Wubet, T., Kottke, I., Teketay, D., Oberwinkler, F., 2003. Mycorrhizal status of indigenous
- Vided, L., Kottke, L., Fekelay, D., Oberwinker, F., 2005. MyCormizal status of indigenous trees in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia. For. Ecol. Manag. 179, 387–399.
 Yirdaw, E., 2001. Diversity of naturally-regenerated native woody species in forest
- plantations in the Ethiopian highlands. N. For. 22, 159–177. Zanini, L., Ganade, G., 2005. Restoration of Araucaria forest: the role of perches, pioneer
- vegetation, and soil fertility. Restor. Ecol. 13, 507-514. Zanne, A.E., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Coomes, D.A., Ilic, J., Jansen, S., Lewis, S.L., Miller, R.B., Swenson, N.G., Wiemann, M.C., Chave, J., 2009. Data from: towards a worldwide
- wood economics spectrum. Dryad Digital Repository. https://doi.org/10.5061/ dryad.234.
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Elphick, C.S., 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. Methods in ecology and evolution 1, 3–14.

Paper II

Ontogenetic niche shifts in a locally endangered tree species (*Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*): implications for conservation

Mekdes Ourge Wegasie^{a, b*}, Kari Klanderud^a, Ørjan Totland^c, Katrine Eldegard^a

^a Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 5003, NO-1433,Ås, Norway.

^bCollege of Dryland Agriculture and Natural Resources, Mekelle University, P.O. Box 213, Mekelle, Ethiopia.

^cDepartment of Biology, University of Bergen, P.O. Box 7800, N-5020, Bergen, Norway

*Corresponding author

Email address: mekdesourge@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Studying the response of different ontogenetic stages to environmental and human disturbance factors is vital for applying conservation strategies to endangered plant species. We studied the ontogenetic niche shifts between life stages of a locally endangered tree species, Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata in relation to such factors in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in Ethiopia. Individual seedlings, saplings and adults of O. europaea were counted in 70 20 m x 20 m quadrats distributed over ca. 2.8 ha. We also measured biotic (woody species richness, canopy cover, aboveground tree biomass, herbaceous cover), abiotic (soil and topographic variables), and human disturbance factors (logging and tracks). We used a novel analytic approach, comparing both empirical and simulated observations as input data. The resulting ordination and logistic regression analyses showed that the probability of finding O. europaea seedlings, saplings and adults related differently to woody species richness, soil depth, slope and logging, suggesting ontogenetic niche shifts. The probability of finding *O. europaea* seedlings increased with increasing soil depth. The probability of finding O. europaea saplings appeared to increase with woody species richness and decrease on steeper slopes, whereas the probability of finding adults increased on steeper slopes and with logging. The population structure of O. europaea shows low recruitment, with few seedlings per hectare compared with the densities of saplings and adults. We conclude that our approach of using both empirical and simulated observations to detect ontogenetic niche shifts may be useful in plant population studies. We also suggest that the observed niche requirements of the different lifestages of O. europaea, together with the low regeneration status, should be considered when conservation strategies are developed for this species. Seedlings especially should be protected from browsing.

Key words: Afromontane forest, Binary generalized linear model, Empirical data, Ethiopia, Life stages, Regeneration niche, Simulated observations

INTRODUCTION

Niche requirements of plants may change through their different life stages (Parish & Bazzaz, 1985; Miriti, 2006). One reason could be differences in micro-site suitability for the various life stages of the same plant population. For instance, the requirements of seedlings (i.e. the regeneration niche) can differ from that of later life stages (Grubb, 1977; Poorter, 2007). According to the regeneration niche hypothesis, such ontogenetic niche shifts start with niche differentiation, which takes place early in a plant's life (Weng, Yang, Hsieh, Hsieh, & Su, 2017). Regeneration niches of the plant population is determined by the availability of viable seeds, the abundance of seedlings, and the intensity of light reaching the ground, together with other biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors (Silvertown, 2004; Quero, Gómez-Aparicio, Zamora, & Maestre, 2008; Larpkern, 2010). In contrast, according to the unified neutral theory (Rosindell, Hubbell, & Etienne, 2011), niche shifts in plants are less relevant, because plants, unlike animals, commonly share similar resources from the environment (Chave, 2004). Thus, the concept of ontogenetic niche shifts has been less-well studied in plant ecology (but see Parish & Bazzaz, 1985; Miriti, 2006; Quero et al., 2008; Lucas-Borja, Fonseca, Linares, Morote, & Serrano, 2012). In contrast, niche shifts between consecutive stages is common and well-studied in animals (Valeix, Chamaillé-Jammes, & Fritz, 2007; Subalusky, Fitzgerald, & Smith, 2009). The reasons are complex but perhaps reflect the difference that unlike many animals, which are mobile and can move to environments that suit their needs at different developmental stages, plants are sessile and must adjust at each stage to the environment in which they find themselves. Ontogenetic niche shifts in plants therefore reflect the intersection of changes in environments over time; developmental changes in the plants as they mature, and whether these expand or contract a

species' niche space; and any resulting differentials among individuals in growth rates and survival.

Examining the responses of different ontogenetic stages to abiotic and biotic environmental and disturbance factors may give insights into how niche shifts can occur between different life stages of the same plant species (Mikkelson, 2005; Wendelberger & Maschinski, 2016). For instance, in an ontogenetic niche shift experiment on three Vaccinium shrub species in a boreal forest, the niche requirements of juvenile Vaccinium vitis-idaea. L were different from those of adults (Eriksson, 2002). Studies that include sequential life stages are therefore important for understanding plant population dynamics and applying this knowledge to conservation measures (Quero et al., 2008). In addition, environmental factors play a significant role in ontogeny niche shifts and are further important in understanding plant distribution and abundance (Wasof et al., 2013; Cornuault, Khimoun, Cuneo, & Besnard, 2015). For instance, in a study of 12 montane-forest tree species in Slovakia, the abundance of seedlings varied significantly from those of saplings and adults in response to elevation, temperature, and precipitation (Malis, Kopecky, Petrik, Vladovic, Merganic, & Vida, 2016). Environmental factors can also limit niche shifts in exotic plant invasions and distribution (Gabler & Siemann, 2012). Understanding how biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors influence ontogenetic niche shift dynamics within a plant population therefore becomes vital for developing effective conservation strategies (Quero et al., 2008).

Most previous studies of ontogenetic niche shifts in plants have used analysis of variance or generalized linear (mixed) model approaches (Eriksson, 2002; Quero et al., 2008; Lucas-Borja et al., 2012; Wendelberger & Maschinski, 2016; Müller, Albach, & Zotz, 2018). In contrast, Larpkern (2010) and Schurman & Baltzer (2012) used canonical correspondence analysis to analyze whether various ontogenetic stages differed in their response to environmental conditions. Comparing observed abundances among life stages is not

straightforward because the sizes of individuals differ substantially as they mature. To overcome this problem, we applied a novel analytic approach, using both empirical and simulated observations (random relocations of the observed data) as inputs.

In this paper, we report the population structure and ontogenetic niche shifts of a locally endangered tree species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* (hereafter *O. europaea*). This is an important species to study ontogenetic niche shifts because of its ability to grow in dry and moist environments (Kassa, Konrad, & Geburek, 2018). It is locally endangered because of overexploitation for wood for multiple purposes (Sileshi & Abraha, 2014; Kassa, Konrad, & Geburek, 2017) and needs conservation. We asked the following questions: (i) What is the current structure of the *O. europaea* population in the forest? (ii) How are the various life stages of *O. europaea* related to different environmental factors? (iii) Can the niche of adult *O. europaea* be predicted by the same environmental variables as those for saplings and seedlings?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study species and area

In Ethiopia, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* occurs mostly in dryland areas between 1250 to 3100 m a.s.l. The height of adult trees rarely reaches 25 m (Friis, 1992; Negash, 2004). Once established, the tree grows well in both warm and cold climate conditions (Bekele-Tesemma & Tengnäs, 2007). *O. europaea* wood is commonly used for fencing, fuelwood and making charcoal, and for manufacturing farm implements and home furniture. Because of its multipurpose use, the species has become locally endangered in Ethiopia (Viswanathan, 1986; Negash, 2003; Kassa et al., 2017, 2018).

The study area is in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest (12^o 22'-12^o 42' N, 39^o 28'-39^o 40' E), which is one of the National Forest Priority Areas, located Tigray Province in the northern part of Ethiopia. Elevation ranges from 1796–2772 m above sea level. Mean

annual temperature is 15.4 °C with a daily temperature range from 14.6 to 22.4 °C. With a mean minimum temperature of 10.7 °C, October is the coldest month. June is the hottest, with a mean maximum of 34.3 °C (Woldemichael, Bekele, & Nemomissa, 2010). Mean annual rainfall is 705 - 986 mm (Kidane, Nemomissa, & Bekele, 2018). Our study area covered ca. 2.8 ha of the forest, comprising high-elevation natural forest and plantations. The structure of the forest mainly comprises trees, bushes, lianas, and herbs. Dominant woody species are *Juniperus procera*, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata*, *Nuxia congesta*, *Rhus glutinosa*, *R. natalensis*, and *Olinia rochetania* (Woldemichael et al., 2010). Although the forest is legally protected, there is still illegal wood collection and cattle grazing.

Field data collection

Seventy 20 × 20 m plots were placed on forested slopes at elevations of 2233–2503 m a.s.l. The plots were distributed about 100 m apart along parallel transects placed perpendicular to three local terrain ridges, each transect running from the top to the bottom of the ridge. The distance between neighboring transects was ca. 150 m (see Wegasie et al., 2018).

In each 20 × 20 m main plot, we measured stem diameter at breast height (DBH) and the heights of all adult *O. europaea* individuals (West, 2009). The abundance, height and diameter of *O. europaea* saplings were recorded in 5 × 5 m sub-plots, placed in the center of each main plot. The number and heights of *O. europaea* seedlings were recorded in five small 1×1 m plots, one placed in the center of each main plot and four at the corners of the 5 × 5 m sub-plots. To classify life stages of *O. europaea* into adult, sapling or seedling we used the following criteria: adults (DBH > 2 cm, irrespective of height, to account for cut stumps); saplings (height $0.4 \le 1.3$ m and DBH < 2 cm) and seedlings (height ≤ 0.3 m).

We sampled biotic, abiotic and human-disturbance variables in the same plots as the vegetation data. For biotic factors, we recorded the number of woody species (woody-species richness) and the height and DBH of these trees, from which we calculated aboveground biomass (hereafter biomass). Tree canopy cover was estimated visually as percentage cover to the nearest 1%. We also visually determined the percentage cover of herbaceous species in each 1×1 m plot.

Slope and elevation were measured in the center of each main plot with a clinometer and a handheld GPS, respectively. For each of the 70 main plots, a soil core sampler was used to collect two separate, surface to 15-cm depth, soil samples: one for measuring soil moisture content; the other for chemical analysis. For the soil chemical analyses, we used a composite of five samples collected at the center of each 1 × 1 m plot. The soil samples were sealed in a double plastic bag to preserve the moisture. All soil samples were transported to Mekelle Agricultural Research Center laboratory in Mekelle. Soil moisture was measured gravimetrically (Gardner, 1965). The composite soil samples were air-dried at a room temperature and sieved through a 2-mm mesh. Soil pH (a 1:2.5 soil:H₂O mixture) and soil organic matter (Walkley-Black method) were measured using standard techniques (Nelson & Sommers, 1996). Soil depth was measured in the field by digging a pit at the center of the main plot down to bedrock.

To quantify human disturbance in each main plot, we measured the total length (m) of human footpaths (hereafter tracks) with a measuring tape, and estimated logging by counting the number of cut *O. europaea* stumps (hereafter logging). We used these variables as indicators of human disturbance.

Data analysis

Data preparation

To assess *O. europaea* population structure, we sorted all the individuals into 14 diameter and 12 height classes. The diameter classes expanded at 1.2 cm increments from class 1 (≤ 0.7 cm) to 14 (≥ 16.3 cm). The height classes increased at 0.9 m increments from class 1 (≤ 0.3 m) to 12 (≥ 10.3 m). The number of individuals in each class was calculated and the diameter and height distributions presented as frequency histograms.

We calculated the above-ground biomass (AGB) of all adult tree species found in the main plots by applying DBH, height (H) and wood density (WD) to the following allometric equation developed for tropical trees (Chave et al., 2014):

 $AGB = 0.0673 * (WD * DBH^2 * H)^{0.976}$

Average wood density (0.612 g/cm^3) for all tree species was obtained from the global wood density database (Zanne et al., 2009).

Statistical analyses

We used Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) to investigate the associations between life stage (seedlings, saplings and adults), and the environmental and disturbance factors. All environmental variables and the abundance of individuals in each life stage were standardized to make them comparable. The Bray Curtis dissimilarity index was used to define an appropriate number of dimensions (k) in the NMDS analyses. We performed ordinations of progressively higher dimensions (k = 2 to k = 4), which produced stress values of 0.215, 0.151 and 0.110, respectively. The NMDS analyses were done through the metaMDS function in the vegan package in R (Oksanen, Blanchet, Kindt, et al., 2013), with 1000 random starting points. The importance of each environmental variable was assessed from the squared correlation coefficient (R^2) between the environmental variable

and the ordination axes. Statistical significance (p-value) of both vector and factor variables was based on random permutations of the data. To assess which life stages of *O. europaea* abundance (as environmental gradients) were associated with specific environmental factors (biotic, abiotic and human disturbance), we used the envfit command to place the vectors (i.e. the abundance of life stages) of environmental gradients onto the NMDS ordination. To reduce complexity, we limited our data presentation to three dimensions (linear fit: $R^2 = 0.84$).

NMDS—like other ordination techniques—indicates differences among seedlings, saplings and adults in their association with the various environmental factors but it does not provide a valid statistical test of the strength of these associations. Therefore, we compared our empirical data with a simulated dataset consisting of random relocations of the sampled seedling, saplings and adult individuals from the 70 plots. The dataset of randomly relocated individuals was simulated with the reshape2 package in R.

To determine if the abundances of seedlings, saplings and adults were influenced by the same explanatory variables, we fitted a general linear model (GLM) with a binary response in which Y = 0 for simulated observations, and Y = 1 for empirical observations. We assumed a binomial distribution of errors and used a logit link function (logistic regression). The model estimated the likelihood of an empirical observation responding to the explanatory variables. Hereafter, we refer to the response variable as the probability of finding *O. europaea*. To reduce model complexity, we pre-selected variables by fitting single variable models between this response variable and each of the candidate explanatory variables, for each ontogenetic stage. Candidate explanatory variables included both biotic (woody species richness, total aboveground biomass of all tree species except *O. europaea*, canopy cover and cover of herbaceous plants), abiotic (soil depth, soil pH, organic matter percentage, soil moisture, slope, elevation) and human disturbance variables (tracks and

logging). We fitted a full model with those explanatory variables that were significantly related (p < 0.05) to the response variable for at least one of the ontogenetic stages, using the two-way interactions between each of these variables and the three ontogenetic stages as explanatory terms. A significant interaction (p < 0.05) between an ontogenetic stage and an environmental variable was interpreted as indicating a difference among the ontogenetic stages in their response to the environmental variable, thus signifying an ontogenetic niche shift.

We carried out model selection by stepwise variable selection, adding or removing predictors to produce a model that minimized Akaike's information criterion (AIC). The general variance inflation factor (GVIF) values were < 5 for all combinations of the explanatory variables in the final models. The model was fitted using the MASS package in R 3.2.5 software (R-Development Core Team, 2016).

RESULTS

Olea europaea population structure

The abundance of *O. europaea* seedlings $(7 \pm 5 \text{ individuals ha}^{-1})$ was much less than either the sapling $(79 \pm 25 \text{ individuals ha}^{-1})$ or adult stages $(219 \pm 39 \text{ individuals ha}^{-1})$. The diameter distribution of the population also indicated that the number of seedlings was low compared with the older sapling and adult stages. Most individuals were found in diameter classes 2–9 (Fig. 1) and in height classes 2–7 (Fig. 2). There was a sharp decline in number of individuals higher than 5.3 m (height classes 7 and above, Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Diameter class distribution of *O. europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* in Hugumburda forest (1 = < 0.8, 2 = 0.8–2.0, 3 = 2.1–3.3, 4 = 3.4–4.6, 5 = 4.7–5.9, 6 = 6–7.2, 7 = 7.3–8.5, 8 = 8.6–9.8, 9 = 9.9–11.1, 10 = 11.2–12.4, 11=12.5–13.7, 12 = 13.8–15.0, 13 = 15.1–16.3 and 14 >16.3 cm). Seedlings, light grey bar; saplings, dark grey bar; and adult trees, black bars.



Fig. 2. Height class distribution of *O. europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* in Hugumburda forest (1 < 0.4, 2 = 0.4-1.3, 3 = 1.4-2.3, 4 = 2.4-3.3, 5 = 3.4-4.3, 6 = 4.4-5.3, 7 = 5.4-6.3, 8 = 6.4-7.3, 9 = 7.4-8.3, 10 = 8.4-9.3, 11 = 9.4-10.3, 12 = > 10.3 m). Seedlings, light grey bar; saplings, dark grey bar; and adult trees, black bars.
Relationships between O. europaea life-stages and environmental variables

The NMDS ordination plots show the pattern of association of the seedling, sapling and adult life stages of *O. europaea* with their environment. *O. europaea* seedlings were not significantly associated with any of the NMDS axes. In contrast, saplings and adults were, but in different ways. Saplings were evidently related to the second and third NMDS axes (positively associated with elevation and herbaceous cover on NMDS 2, and with organic matter on NMDS 3, and negatively associated with logging, slope and tracks on both axes: Table 1 & Fig. 3). Conversely, adults seemed to be positively associated with slope, slightly less positively linked with herbaceous cover and logging, and negatively associated with tracks and pH, all on NMDS 3 (Table 1 & Fig. 3).

Table 1. Squared correlation coefficients and associated p-values from permutation tests of the associations between *O. europaea* life-stage abundances and NMDS axes. Figures in bold are statistically significant at p < 0.05.

Environmental Variables	<u>NMDS 1 vs NMDS 2</u>		<u>NMDS 1</u> vs <u>NMDS 3</u>	
	r^2	р	r^2	р
Seedlings	0.0152	0.659	0.0122	0.694
Saplings	0.1997	0.005	0.1180	0.023
Adult	0.0557	0.205	0.1778	0.007



Fig. 3. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination of *O. europaea* life stages versus environmental factors. *O. europaea* life stages in red, topographic factors are shown in dark grey, soil factors in brown, biotic factors in dark green and disturbance factors in dark blue. *O. europaea* adult (OleaAdul), *O. europaea* sapling (OleaSapl), organic matter (OM), canopy cover (Ccov), richness (Rich), track length (Tracks), elevation (Elevation), slope (Slope), number of *O. europaea* stumps (Logging), herbaceous cover (Hcov), aboveground biomass of all trees except *O. europaea* (AGBeOI), soil moisture (SoilM), soil depth (SoilDep) and human footpaths (Tracks).

Woody species richness, aboveground biomass, soil depth, soil moisture, elevation, slope and logging were those variables significantly associated (p < 0.05) with the probability of finding *O. europaea* for at least one of its ontogenetic stages. These interactions, revealed by the GLM, indicated ontogenetic niche shifts (Table 2). The probability of finding *O. europaea* increased with higher woody species richness for saplings and adults but decreased for seedlings (Table 2, Fig. 4a). The probability of finding *O. europaea* seedlings increased with soil depth, whereas for saplings it decreased (Table 2, Fig. 4b). The pattern for slope was

similar (Table 2, Fig. 4c). The probability of finding *O. europaea* at all ontogenetic stages increased with logging, but more so for adults and saplings than for seedlings (Table 2, Fig. 4d).

Thus, among the explanatory variables included in both the NMDS and the full GLM model, woody species richness, soil depth, slope and logging had significant two-way interactions with the ontogenetic stages. The negative relationship between slope and the probability of finding saplings, as revealed by the GLM, is reflected also in the ordination diagrams in Fig. 3. In contrast, for the variables woody species richness, soil depth and logging, the interpretation of the NMDS ordination diagrams and the results from the GLM did not correspond.

Table 2. Results of a logistic regression model, estimating how the probability of finding *O*. *europaea* depends on ontogenetic stage (adults [reference level], sapling, seedling) and environmental factors in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. The table shows parameter estimates and associated standard errors for a binary generalized linear model, where the response had two possible outcomes Y (empirical observation) =1 and Y (simulated observation) = 0. Simulated observations were generated by random relocations of the empirical observations of *O*. *europaea* in 70 sample plots. Figures in bold are statistically significant at P < 0.05.

	Estimate	SE	Z	р
Intercept	-0.136	0.07	-2.1	0.037
Sapling	-0.139	0.12	-1.0	0.317
Seedling	0.275	0.45	0.6	0.542
Richness	0.269	0.08	3.2	0.001
Soil depth	-0.051	0.09	-0.6	0.554
Elevation	0.213	0.07	3.1	0.002
Slope	0.217	0.07	3.2	0.001

Logging	0.253	0.08	3.3	0.001
Seedling: Woody species richness	-0.958	0.61	-1.6	0.114
Sapling: Woody species richness	0.467	0.17	2.8	0.006
Seedling : Soil depth	1.207	0.57	2.1	0.035
Sapling: Soil depth	-0.646	0.17	-3.8	<0.001
Seedling : Slope	0.580	0.45	1.3	0.201
Sapling : Slope	-0.324	0.13	-2.4	0.014
Seedling : Logging	0.321	0.56	0.6	0.566
Sapling : Logging	-0.687	0.19	-3.6	<0.001









Fig. 4. Estimated relationships between the probability of finding *O. europaea* and woody species richness, soil depth, slope and logging, for different ontogenetic stages (adult, sapling, seedling; see Table 2). Note that the explanatory variables were standardized before analysis and plotting. Observed values ranged from 6 to 24 species for woody species richness, from 0.01 to 1.20 meters for soil depth, from 0.03 to 0.94 degrees for slopes, and from 0 to 13 for number of stumps per 20×20 m observation plots for logging.

DISCUSSION

This study reveals the presence of ontogenetic niche shifts in *O. europaea*. The probabilities of finding the various life stages related differently to the suites of biotic, abiotic and human disturbance factors that we studied. This suggests that each life stage has a different tolerance to various environmental factors, suggesting niche differentiations in *O. europaea*, as has been found in another threatened tree species, *Acer opalus* ssp. *granatense* (Quero et al., 2008).

The higher probability of finding *O. europaea* seedlings with increasing soil depth suggests that deeper soil is important for seedlings to establish, perhaps because deeper soils retain more soil moisture. Soil depth has been shown to be is an important factor in the establishment of seedlings in recently abandoned pastures and secondary forest in Costa Rica (Gerhardt, 1993). Moreover, in a seed dispersal and establishment experiment on *Olea europaea* in Spain, soil moisture was shown to be the primary determinant of seedling establishment, among several abiotic factors studied (Rey & Alcántara, 2000). Bekele (2005), studying regeneration in a dry Afromontane forest, recorded a higher recruitment rate of *O. europaea* seedlings during the wet seasons than in the long dry season, emphasising the importance of soil moisture in this process.

In contrast, we observed that the probability of finding *O. europaea* saplings decreased as soil depth increased. Because harvesting takes place predominantly at lower elevations, the abundance of both saplings and adults is greater at higher elevations, where the soil is also shallower (Wegasie et al., 2018). This suggests that seedlings may require a different soil moisture regime to that of these later life stages.

The probability of finding sapling and adult *O. europaea* increased with increasing woody species richness. One reason could be that a diversity of other woody plants may create more favourable environmental conditions, thereby enhancing the abundance of saplings and adults (Maestre, Quero, Gotelli, et al., 2012; Wegasie et al., 2018). Such facilitation by woody species has been found previously in dry Afromontane forest in Ethiopia, where the survival of *O. europaea* seedlings was enhanced under shrubs such as *Euclea racemosa*, which effectively served as nurse plants (Aerts, Negussie, Maes, November, Hermy, & Muys, 2007). Shrubs not only assist the establishment of the seedlings but also their long-time survival (e.g. *Acer opalus* subsp. *granatense*: Gómez-Aparicio, Zamora & Gómez, 2005). In our study, however, the probability of finding *O. europaea* seedlings and adults, perhaps because seedlings experienced competition from established plants.

The higher probability of finding *O. europaea* adults with increasing slope could suggest that it is more difficult to harvest *O. europaea* on steeper slopes (Wegasie et al., 2018). The positive relationship between the probability of finding *O. europaea* adults and logging in the forest is in line with a previous study, which suggested that logging occurs primarily in forest areas dominated by *O. europaea*.

The present population structure of *O. europaea* in Hugumburda reveals a much lower density of seedlings than of saplings and adults. This points to low regeneration of *O. europaea* in the forest compared with other Afromontane forests in the region. For instance, *O. europaea* seedling density in protected parts of Dessea forest was 3113 ± 19 individuals ha⁻¹ (Aynekulu, Denich & Tsegaye, 2009), which is much greater than that in Hugumburda (7 \pm 5 individuals ha⁻¹). The reason for this low regeneration could be excessive browsing of seedlings by livestock in the forest. Goats *Capra hircus* are the main browsers of *O. europaea* seedlings in dry forest in Ethiopia (Aerts et al., 2007), and we often observed them browsing in the forest during our fieldwork.

The sharp declining in the larger diameter classes could be due to selective logging of big trees in the forest. A similar trend in other montane tree species was observed in Harenna forest, southeastern Ethiopia (Tesfaye, Teketay & Fetene, 2002).

Our findings suggest that there are ontogenetic niche shifts in *O. europaea* in the Hugumburda forest. Seedlings, saplings and adults responded differently to some of the measured environmental and human disturbance variables. In particular, the environmental factors that define the niche of adult *O. europaea* differ from those variables defining the niches of seedlings and saplings. The changes in niche space among these developmental stages reflect ontogenetic niche shifts. Our novel approach of testing our empirical data with simulated data could advance the study of ontogenetic niche shift in plant populations. Finally, because low regeneration rates and moisture stress appear to be the main constraints on *O. europaea* establishment, special attention should be given to protecting seedlings from browsing in an effort to conserve the declining population of *O. europaea* in Hugumburda.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Hugumburda forest guards for site access and all participated individuals during the fieldwork. This research work was supported by the project "Steps toward sustainable forest management with the local communities in Tigray, northern Ethiopia (ETH 13/0018)" under the Norwegian Programme for Capacity Development in Higher Education and Research for Development (NORHED).

REFERENCES

- Aerts, R., Negussie, A., Maes, W., November, E., Hermy, M., & Muys, B. (2007). Restoration of dry Afromontane forest using pioneer shrubs as nurse-plants for *Olea europaea* ssp. *cuspidata. Restoration Ecology*, 15(1), 129–138.
- Aynekulu, E., Denich, M., & Tsegaye, D. (2009). Regeneration response of *Juniperus procera* and *Olea europaea* subsp *cuspidata* to exclosure in a dry Afromontane forest in Northern Ethiopia. *Mountain Research and Development*, 29(2), 143–152.
- Bekele-Tesemma, A., & Tengnäs, B. (2007). Useful trees and shrubs for Ethiopia: identification, propagation and management for 17 agroclimatic zones: RELMA in ICRAF Project, World Agroforestry Centre, Eastern Africa Region.
- Bekele, T. (2005). Recruitment, survival and growth of *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* seedlings and juveniles in dry Afromontane forests of northern Ethiopia. *Tropical Ecology*, 46(1), 113–126.
- Black, C. A., Evans, D.D., Ensminger, L.E., White, J.L., Clark, F.E., & Dinauer, R. (Eds.) (1965). Methods of soil analysis: Part 1 Physical and mineralogical properties, including statistics of measurement and sampling. Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy.
- Chave, J. (2004). Neutral theory and community ecology. *Ecology letters*, 7(3), 241–253.
- Chave, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M. S., Delitti, W. B., Duque, A., et al. (2014). Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. *Global Change Biology*, 20(10), 3177–3190.
- Cornuault, J., Khimoun, A., Cuneo, P., & Besnard, G. (2015). Spatial segregation and realized niche shift during the parallel invasion of twoolive subspecies in south-eastern Australia. *Journal of Biogeography*, 42(10), 1930–1941. doi:10.1111/jbi.12538

- Eriksson, O. (2002). Ontogenetic niche shifts and their implications for recruitment in three clonal Vaccinium shrubs: *Vaccinium myrtillus*, *Vaccinium vitis-idaea*, and *Vaccinium oxycoccos*. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 80(6), 635–641.
- Friis, I. (1992). Forests and forest trees of northeast tropical Africa: their natural habitats and distribution patterns in Ethiopia, Djibouti and Somalia: London (UK): Her Majestry's Stationery Office, 1992.
- Gabler, C. A., & Siemann, E. (2012). Environmental variability and ontogenetic niche nhifts in exotic plants may govern reinvasion pressure in restorations of invaded ecosystems. *Restoration Ecology*, 20(5), 545–550. doi:10.1111/j.1526-100X.2012.00901.x
- Gardner, W.H., 1965. Water content. In Black, C.A. (Ed.), Methods of soils analysis. Part 1 Physical and mineralogical properties, including statistics of measurement and sampling (pp. 82–127). Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy.
- Gerhardt, K. (1993). Tree seedling development in tropical dry abandoned pasture and secondary forest in Costa Rica. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *4*(1), 95–102.
- Gómez-Aparicio, L., Zamora, R., & Gómez, J. M. (2005). The regeneration status of the endangered *Acer opalus* subsp. *granatense* throughout its geographical distribution in the Iberian Peninsula. *Biological Conservation*, 121(2), 195–206.
- Grubb, P. J. (1977). The maintenance of species-richness in plant communities: the importance of the regeneration niche. *Biological Reviews*, *52*(1), 107–145.
- Kassa, A., Konrad, H., & Geburek, T. (2017). Landscape genetic structure of *Olea europaea* subsp *cuspidata* in Ethiopian highland forest fragments. *Conservation Genetics*, 18(6), 1463–1474. doi:10.1007/s10592-017-0993-z
- Kassa, A., Konrad, H., & Geburek, T. (2018). Mating pattern and pollen dispersal in the wild olive tree (*Olea europaea* subsp *cuspidata*). *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 14(1), 11. doi:10.1007/s11295-017-1215-z

- Kidane, L., Nemomissa, S., & Bekele, T. (2018). Human-forest interfaces in Hugumburda-Gratkhassu National Forest Priority Area, North-eastern Ethiopia. *Journal of ethnobiology and ethnomedicine*, 14(1), 17.
- Larpkern, P. (2010). Woody species regeneration and diversity in a seasonally dry forest in northeastern Thailand. PhD thesis, Department of Ecology and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway.
- Lucas-Borja, M., Fonseca, T., Linares, J., Morote, F. G., & Serrano, F. L. (2012). Does the recruitment pattern of Spanish black pine (*Pinus nigra* Arn ssp. salzmannii) change the regeneration niche over the early life cycle of individuals? Forest Ecology and Management, 284, 93–99.
- Maestre, F. T., Quero, J. L., Gotelli, N. J., Escudero, A., Ochoa, V., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Garcá-Gómez, M., Bowker, M. A., Soliveres, S., Escolar, C. *et al.* (2012). Plant species richness and ecosystem multifunctionality in global drylands. *Science*, 335(6065), 214– 218.
- Malis, F., Kopecky, M., Petrik, P., Vladovic, J., Merganic, J., & Vida, T. (2016). Life stage, not climate change, explains observed tree range shifts. *Global Change Biology*, 22(5), 1904–1914. doi:10.1111/gcb.13210
- Mikkelson, G. M. (2005). Niche-based vs. neutral models of ecological communities. *Biology and Philosophy*, 20(2), 557–566.
- Miriti, M. N. (2006). Ontogenetic shift from facilitation to competition in a desert shrub. Journal of Ecology, 94(5), 973–979.
- Müller, L. L. B., Albach, D. C., & Zotz, G. (2018). Growth responses to elevated temperatures and the importance of ontogenetic niche shifts in Bromeliaceae. *New Phytologist*, 217(1), 127–139.

- Negash, L. (2003). Vegetative propagation of the threatened African wild olive Olea europaea
 L. subsp cuspidata (Wall. ex DC.) Ciffieri. New Forests, 26(2), 137–146.
 doi:10.1023/a:1024441428537
- Negash, L. (2004). Stump sprouts as sources of cutting production for the vegetative propagation of the threatened African wild olive (*Olea europaea* subsp *cuspidata*). *South African Journal of Botany*, 70(1), 24–30. doi:10.1016/s0254-6299(15)30264-7
- Nelson, D. W., & Sommers, L. E. (1996). Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. In D.L. Sparks, A.L. Page, P.A. Helmke, R.H. Loeppert, P.N. Soltanpour, M.A. Tabatabai, C.T. Johnston & M.E. Sumner (Eds.) *Methods of soil analysis Part 3 Chemical methods* (pp. 961–1010). Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America.
- Oksanen, J. F., Blanchet, G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, R.P., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, L.G., Solymos, P.M., Henry, H.S., Wagner, H. (2013). vegan: Community Ecology Package Version: 2.0-7.
- Parish, J., & Bazzaz, F. (1985). Ontogenetic niche shifts in old-field annuals. *Ecology*, 66(4), 1296–1302.
- Poorter, L. (2007). Are species adapted to their regeneration niche, adult niche, or both? *The American Naturalist, 169*(4), 433–442.
- Quero, J. L., Gómez-Aparicio, L., Zamora, R., & Maestre, F. T. (2008). Shifts in the regeneration niche of an endangered tree (*Acer opalus* ssp. granatense) during ontogeny: using an ecological concept for application. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 9(6), 635–644.
- R Development Core Team. (2016). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

- Rey, P. J., & Alcántara, J. M. (2000). Recruitment dynamics of a fleshy-fruited plant (Olea europaea): connecting patterns of seed dispersal to seedling establishment. *Journal of Ecology*, 88(4), 622–633.
- Rosindell, J., Hubbell, S. P., & Etienne, R. S. (2011). The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography at age ten. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26(7), 340– 348. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2011.03.024
- Schurman, J. S., & Baltzer, J. L. (2012). Environmental correlates of tree species distributions vary among age classes in a northern temperate forest. *Plant Ecology*, 213(10), 1621– 1632.
- Sileshi, D., & Abraha, B. (2014). Assessment of soil seedbank composition of woody species in Hgumbirda National Forest Priority Area, Northeastern Ethiopia. *Momona Ethiopian Journal of Science*, 6(1), 25–44.
- Silvertown, J. (2004). Plant coexistence and the niche. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 19*(11), 605–611.
- Subalusky, A. L., Fitzgerald, L. A., & Smith, L. L. (2009). Ontogenetic niche shifts in the American alligator establish functional connectivity between aquatic systems. *Biological Conservation*, 142(7), 1507–1514.
 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.02.019</u>
- Tesfaye, G., Teketay, D., & Fetene, M. (2002). Regeneration of fourteen tree species in Harenna forest, southeastern Ethiopia. *Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants, 197*(6), 461–474.
- Valeix, M., Chamaillé-Jammes, S., & Fritz, H. (2007). Interference competition and temporal niche shifts: elephants and herbivore communities at waterholes. *Oecologia*, 153(3), 739–748.

- Viswanathan, T.V. (1986). Endangered tree species in Northern Ethiopia. *Environmental Conservation*, 13(1), 71–72. doi:10.1017/s037689290003592x
- Wasof, S., Lenoir, J., Gallet-Moron, E., Jamoneau, A., Brunet, J., Cousins, S. A. O., De Frenne,
 P. et al. (2013). Ecological niche shifts of understorey plants along a latitudinal gradient
 of temperate forests in north-western Europe. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*,
 22(10), 1130–1140. doi:10.1111/geb.12073
- Wegasie, M. O., Eldegard, K., Klanderud, K., Tewolde-Berhan, S., Giday, K., & Totland, Ø. (2018). Locally endangered tree species in a dry montane forest are enhanced by high woody species richness but affected by human disturbance. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 158, 19–27.
- Wendelberger, K. S., & Maschinski, J. (2016). Assessing microsite and regeneration niche preferences through experimental reintroduction of the rare plant *Tephrosia* angustissima var. corallicola. Plant Ecology, 217(2), 155–167.
- Weng, C-Y., Yang, K-C., Hsieh, C-F., Hsieh, C-h., & Su, M-H. (2017). Local neighborhood communities in the understory play a critical role by affecting regeneration niches and subsequent community assembly in a montane cloud forest. *Ecological Research*, 32(6), 821–833.
- West, P. W. (2009). Tree height. In P.W. West, *Tree and Forest Measurement* (pp. 17–21). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Woldemichael, L. K., Bekele, T., & Nemomissa, S. (2010). Vegetation composition in Hugumbirda-Gratkhassu national forest priority area, South Tigray. *Momona Ethiopian Journal of Science*, 2(2), 27–48.
- Zanne, A., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Coomes, D., Ilic, J., Jansen, S., Lewis, S., Miller, R., Swenson, N., Weimann, M., & Chave, J. (2009). Global wood density database. Dryad. Available at: http://hdl. handle. net/10255/dryad, 235 (Accessed 14 August 2018)

Paper III

The relationship between reproductive success of a locally endangered tree species, *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* and human disturbance in an isolated Afromontane forest in Northern Ethiopia

Mekdes Ourge Wegasie^{1, 2*}, Katrine Eldegard¹, Sarah Tewolde-Berhan², Ørjan Totland³, Kari Klanderud¹

¹ Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 5003, NO-1433,Ås, Norway.

²College of Dryland Agriculture and Natural Resources, Mekelle University, P.O. Box 213, Mekelle, Ethiopia.

³Department of Biology, University of Bergen, P.O. Box 7800, N-5020, Bergen, Norway

*Corresponding author

Email address: mekdesourge@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Environmental factors, human disturbance, and individual plant population properties may play a significant role in determining the reproductive success of a plant. Understanding limiting factors for reproduction is important for the conservation of endangered species. We investigated if the reproductive success of a locally endangered tree species, Olea europaea subsp. *cuspidata* was related to stem density, individual tree properties, and environmental and human disturbance factors in the isolated dry Afromontane forest, Hugumburda, in Northern Ethiopia. We measured reproductive success (number of flowers, premature fruits, mature fruits), stem density, and individual properties (crown diameter, DBH, height) of O. europaea trees, abiotic (soil moisture, soil depth, slope, elevation) and human disturbance factors (track length, logging) from 70 plots (20 m \times 20 m) across the forest landscape. We carried out hurdle and general linear mixed effect model (GLMM) analyses to examine the relationships. The probability of O. europaea flower occurrence was positively related to crown diameter, but negatively with deeper soils. The likelihood of O. europaea flowers resulting in mature fruits was negatively related to longer tracks, and the likelihood of premature O. europaea fruits developing into mature fruits was negatively related to steeper slopes and longer tracks in the forest. None of the reproductive success parameters were related to stem density. Our results suggest that human disturbance, by people and livestock, influence the reproductive output in O. europaea. Restricting the use of these tracks by people and livestock could perhaps improve the reproduction of *O. europaea*. This is, however, not a good solution for the people, so understanding why this disturbance has a negative influence on reproduction is important to enable forest management and ensure reproduction in the long term.

Key words: Dry land forest; Endangered species; Hugumburda forest; Track length; Tree properties

INTRODUCTION

Human disturbance is the main cause of reduced biodiversity in forest ecosystems (Ewers and Didham, 2006, Aynekulu et al., 2016), and can also affect the reproductive success of individual plant species (Pellegrino and Bellusci, 2014, Fernandez et al., 2015, Torimaru et al., 2018). For instance, plant populations that are isolated because of surrounding agricultural fields may decline in density because of pollen limitation (Chen and Zuo, 2018). In addition, the characteristics of the population itself, such as the density and individual properties, may also influence the reproductive output of plant species (Singh et al., 2018). Thus, understanding the relationship between the reproductive success of an endangered species and its individual properties, and environmental and human disturbance factors may contribute to understand why the population is declining (Shao et al., 2008).

The number of flowers and fruits can express the reproductive success of a plant (Shao et al., 2008, Arena et al., 2018). The number of fruits is the basis for seed production, and thus the recruitment of individuals into the population (Lennartsson, 2002). Moreover, knowledge about which factors that influence the reproductive success is important for understanding the population dynamics, and to develop conservation strategies for endangered species.

Populations of some multipurpose tree species in dry Afromontane forests are shown to decline because of human disturbance (Mligo et al., 2011, Aynekulu et al., 2016). *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* (hereafter *O. europaea*) is one characteristic tree species in these forests (Bekele, 2005), but because of the multipurpose use of the species, such as for farm implements, fuelwood, construction material, and medicine, it is threatened by over-exploitation and considered locally endangered (Viswanathan, 1986, CBD, 2009). However, despite being much needed, knowledge about the reproductive success of *O. europaea* is very limited although there have been some previous studies on the abundance, seed dispersal and recruitment of this species (Aynekulu et al., 2009, Abiyu et al., 2016, Abiyu et al., 2017, Wegasie et al., 2018). According to Wegasie et al., 2018(unpublished), there are few *O. europaea* seedlings compared to saplings and adults in the dry Afromantane Hugumburda forest. The reason for this may be a low fruit production per flowers. Thus, we hypothesise that human disturbance affect the reproduction success of *O. europaea* in this forest. The main objectives of this study was to examine (a) if there is a relationship between the reproductive success (number of flowers, premature and mature fruits) of *O. europaea* and

abiotic and human disturbance factors, and (b) if the reproductive success in *O. europaea* is related to its individual properties and density.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study species

Olea europaea subsp. *cuspidata* (hereafter *O. europaea*) is naturally distributed from eastern to southern Africa. The tree is native to Ethiopia and is abundant between 1250 to 3100 m a.s.l. in dry Afromontane forests. It occurs primarily in arid areas and adult trees are commonly 15 m high but can reach 25 m (Friis, 1992). It is mainly wind pollinated, and the flowers are hermaphrodite with 6-10 mm long petals and has a creamy white color. However, according to unpublished studies, insects also visit *O. europaea* flowers. The mature fruits are fleshy with an oval shape and a diameter of 10 x 8 mm. The fruit color is green before maturing and brownish when matured. The seeds are mainly dispersed by birds (Abiyu et al., 2016).

Data collection

Reproductive parameters of O. europaea

Seventy 20 × 20 m plots were placed on forested slopes at elevations of 2233 - 2503 m a.s.l. in the Hugumburda forest. The plots were distributed about 100 m apart along parallel transects placed perpendicular to three local terrain ridges, each transect running from the top to the bottom of the ridge. The distance between neighbouring transects was ca. 150 m (see Wegasie et al., 2018). We established five small 1×1 m plots, one placed in the center of each main plot and four at the center of each diagonals running from the center of the main plots to the corner.

In each 20×20 m main plot, we selected one *O. europaea* tree at the centre or near to the centre (66 trees, in total). Among the 70 sample plots, four plots were without *O. europaea* and they were not replaced. For the selected *O. europaea* trees, we measured stem diameter at breast height (DBH), crown diameter (by taking the average horizontal width of the crown) and height (by climbing the trees and using measuring tape).

In each of the selected *O. europaea* trees, ten branches were chosen randomly and marked at 25 cm from the tip to the middle. The sampled trees were monitored three times until fruit maturation. First, the number of flowers on the marked branches were counted during the flowering period (June 2015). All marked branches were revisited for a second

time (September 2015) to count the number of pre-matured fruits. We counted premature fruits to avoid data loss during the fruit maturation period, as ripening fruits are commonly eaten by birds (Abiyu et al., 2016). Finally, we counted the number of mature fruits and removed fruits per branch in November 2015.

We sampled individual properties of O. europaea trees, and environmental (topography and soil) and human disturbance variables (track length and number of stumps) in the same plots as we obtained the individual O. europaea tree data. We estimated stem density by counting all reproductive O. europaea individuals in each plot. The topographic factors, slope and elevation were measured in the center of each main plot with a clinometer and a handheld GPS, respectively. For each main plot, two separate soil samples were collected; the first for soil moisture analysis (collected by soil core samplers at the center of the main plot), and the second for organic content and pH, which was a composite of five samples (top soil to 15 cm depth) collected at the center of each 1×1 m plot. The soil samples were sealed in a double plastic bag to preserve the soil moisture. In addition, soil depth was measured in the field by digging a pit at the center of the main plot down to bedrock. All soil samples were transported to Mekelle Agricultural Research Center laboratory in Mekelle. Soil moisture was measured gravimetrically (Black et al., 1965). The composite soil samples were then air-dried at a room temperature and sieved through a 2-mm mesh. Soil pH (at 1:2.5 soil/H₂O) and soil organic matter (Walkley-Black method) were measured using standard techniques (Nelson and Sommers, 1996).

To quantify human disturbance factors, we used a measuring tape to measure the total length (m) of human and livestock footpaths (hereafter tracks) and counted the number of cut *O*. *europaea* stumps to quantify logging (hereafter logging) in each main plot.

Data analysis

The dataset was subjected to initial exploratory analyses following Zuur et al. (2010) to check for outliers and collinearity between candidate explanatory variables and to explore relationships between number of flowers, premature fruits and mature fruits, and the candidate explanatory variables. We used the statistical software R (R Core Team, 2016) for all exploratory and statistical analyses.

The candidate explanatory variables included individual tree properties (crown diameter, diameter at breast height (DBH) and tree height), soil variables (soil depth, organic

matter, soil moisture), human disturbance (track length, logging), other abiotic environmental variables (elevation, slope) and stem density of adult *O. europaea* trees in the 20×20 m plots. No extreme outliers were detected.

For analyses of factors influencing number of flowers, we carried out a pre-selection of variables, fitting single-variable models for the relationship between number of flowers and each of the candidate explanatory variables, except for DBH and tree height. Because, both these variables were strongly correlated ($r \ge 0.7$) with crown diameter. Crown diameter had a stronger statistical signal on the number of flowers; therefore, we used crown diameter as explanatory variable in the statistical modelling. All the candidate explanatory variables that were significantly related to the response (i.e., number of flowers), or suggested a trend (i.e., P<0.10) in the single-variable models, were included in the full (most complex) model. We fitted generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) with log link function and negative binomial error distribution. An observation-level random intercept was included in the models to deal with over-dispersion. We carried out model selection by backward elimination (Crawley, 2013, Zuur et al., 2013). Explanatory variables were retained in the final model if their influence on the response was statistically significant (P < 0.05) or showed a trend (P < 0.10). For the GLMM models, we used the glmer function through lme4 package in R.

We recognize that using 'number of flowers' a pure count response variable may not be optimal for our dataset, because it included many trees without any flowers. Therefore, we re-fitted the final GLMM model with a hurdle model. The underlying idea for the hurdle model is that there are two ecological processes playing a role. In the context of the *O. europaea* flowers data, one process is causing the absence and presence of flowering, and in those trees that flower, there is a second process influencing the abundance (number) of flowers. The probability function of the hurdle model is build up accordingly. The binomial distribution is used to model the absence and presence of flowers, and a negative binomial (not Poisson, because of over-dispersion in the count data) for the counts (number of flowers). For the hurdle model, we used the hurdle function from pscl package in R. Only the results from the hurdle model is reported in this paper. However, the explanatory variables in the final models were the same for the two modelling approaches, as was the directions of the significant relationships.

Because the fruits develop from the flowers, the number of pre-mature and mature fruits will – to a large extent – depend on the same factors, which influence the number of flowers. Thus, we do not report the results from analyses of factors that influence the number of premature and mature fruits. However, irrespective of whether flowering – and the number of flowers – were related to the human disturbance factors, we wanted to investigate whether the proportion of the flowers that reached the premature or mature stage was influenced by the human disturbance factors.

To analyze if human disturbance influence (A) the probability that *O. europaea* flowers result in mature fruits and (B) the probability that premature *O. europaea* fruits result in mature fruits, we initially fitted GLMMs with a binary response; Y = 1 = success (mature fruit) or Y = 0 = failure (flower or premature fruit did not results in mature fruit). We used the logit link, assuming binomial distribution of errors. An observation-level random intercept was included in the models to deal with over-dispersion. We included track length, logging (number of stumps) and slope as explanatory variables in the full model. We included slope as explanatory variable in the full models because it may be an indirect measure of accessibility. Explanatory variables were retained in the final model if their influence on the response was statistically significant (P < 0.05) or showed a trend (P < 0.10).

RESULTS

Among the 70 trees included in the study, 30 trees had flowers (range 1-1225 flowers) on the branch that was selected for flower counts, whereas 40 trees had no flowers on the selected branches. The total number of *O. europaea* flowers (9999) was higher than the total number of premature (2438) and mature (486) fruits. Out of the total number of flowers counted, 24% set premature fruits, but only 5% resulted in mature fruits. Out of the total premature fruits, 20% developed into mature fruits.

The probability that *O. europaea* trees had flowers increased with crown diameter and decreased with soil depth (Table 1A, Figure 1), but these variables were not significantly associated with the number of flowers on trees with flowers (Table 1B). We found no significant association between the probability that *O. europaea* trees – or the number of flowers on flowering trees – and any of the other soil variables (organic matter, moisture), human disturbance (track length, logging), or other abiotic or biotic environmental variables (elevation, stem density of *O. europaea*) (results not reported).

Table 1. Factors influencing flowering in O. europaea in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. Parameter estimates and associated standard errors from a hurdle model. The binomial distribution was used to model the absence and presence of flowers (A), and a negative binomial model for the counts (number of flowers). Data from 70 trees (plots) were included in the analysis.

A. Zero hurdle model coefficients (binomial with logit link):

_

	Estimate	SE	Z	Р
Intercept	-0.345	0.280	-1.230	0.22
Crown diameter	1.071	0.337	3.178	0.0015
Soil depth	-0.663	0.324	-2.043	0.041

B. Count model coefficients (truncated negative binomial with log link):

	Estimate	SE	Ζ	Р
Intercept	5.775	0.247	23.405	< 0.0001
Crown diameter	0.053	0.338	0.158	0.87
Soil depth	0.118	0.259	0.457	0.65



Figure 1. Estimated relationships between the probability of *O. europaea* flowering and crown diameter (left panel) and soil depth (right panel) in Hugumburda. Figures are based on parameter estimates from the model in Table 1, after removal of the non-significant variables in the count model (B in Table 1). Solid points show observed values.

The probability of *O. europaea* flowers resulting in mature fruits decreased with track length (Table 2A, Figure 2), but was not significantly related to logging (z = 0.02, p = 0.98) or slope (z = -0.85, p = 0.39). Only 8 of the 66 trees included in the analyses had mature fruits (4 trees were excluded because of missing data). The number of removed fruits were recorded f or all trees (see methods), but not included in the response variable. When calculated as a percentage of the observed mature versus removed fruits, 78% mature fruits were removed. The probability that premature *O. europaea* fruits resulted in mature fruits decreased with both track length and slope (Table 2B, Figure 3), but was not significantly related to logging (z = -1.06, p = 0.29).

Table 2. (A) Factors influencing the probability that *O. europaea* flowers result in mature fruits. (B). Factors influencing the probability that premature *O. europaea* fruits result in mature fruits. Parameter estimates and associated standard errors are from generalized linear mixed models with logit link function and binomial error distribution. An observation-level

random intercept was included in the models to deal with over-dispersion. Data from 66 trees (plots) were included in the analysis (4 of the trees in Table 1 were excluded because of missing data)

A. Probability of O. europaea flowers result in mature fruits

	Estimate	SE	Ζ	Р
Intercept	-3.84	1.096	-3.51	0.00046
Track length	-1.62	0.777	-2.08	0.037

B. Probability that O. europaea premature fruits result in mature fruits

	Estimate	SE	Ζ	Р
Intercept	-9.101	1.831	-4.97	< 0.0001
Track length	-1.834	0.994	-1.85	0.065
Slope	-1.925	0.966	-1.99	0.046



Figure 2 . Estimated probability that *O. europaea* flowers result in mature fruits, as a function of track length (human and animals tracks) in the Hugumburda forest. The estimated relationship is based on the model in Table 2A.



Figure 3. Estimated probability that premature *O. europaea* fruits result in mature fruits, as a function of track length (human and animals tracks) and slope in the Hugumburda forest. The estimated relationship is based on the model in Table 2B.

DISCUSSION

Our study of the reproduction of *O. europaea* shows that very few flowers developed into mature fruits in the dry Afromontane Hugumburda forest. We found that the probability of flowering was related to individual tree properties and environmental conditions, but it was not related to human disturbance factors. In contrast, the probability that flowers developed into premature and mature fruits was negatively related to human disturbance factors and environmental conditions, but not to individual tree properties.

We observed significant relationships between the probability of reproductive success in O. europaea and canopy diameter, soil depth, slope and human disturbance (length of tracks). Whereas there was no relationship between the density of O. europaea stems and the reproductive success. The positive relationship between the probability of O. europaea flower occurrence and canopy diameter suggests that trees with wider crown diameter produce more flowers and fruits than trees with smaller canopies. Crown diameter was positively correlated with tree height in our study; this shows that bigger trees with more biomass produce more flowers, which is in line with previous studies (Sanni et al., 2018). Wider canopies are also shown to facilitate flowering in day-neutral strawberry in Korea (Fridiaa et al., 2016). On the other side, denser canopies may create shadow, and thus limit flower production for light demanding plants. Nevertheless, O. europaea is shade tolerant tree species for thus canopy shade may not affect its flowering. In our study, we found the probability of O. europaea flower occurrence decreased with deeper soils. The reason for this could be stem density might be affected with soil depth (Slik et al., 2010). Moreover, at deeper soil there might be low stem density with deeper soils because of high vegetation diversity that promotes competition among plant species (Loumou and Giourga, 2003), and as a result, the canopy be closed that limit sunlight and flower production.

The probability of *O. europaea* flowers and premature fruit resulting in mature fruits decreased with longer tracks in the forest. This suggests that areas in the forest that are visited more frequently have lower number of fruits. This can be because people and animals using the tracks might harvest the fruits. Another explanation can be that high disturbance by people and their livestock might create gaps in the forest, and hinder the trees to cross-pollinate with neighboring conspecific trees (Pellegrino and Bellusci, 2014), which result in influencing fruit production. On the other hand, there was no relationship between *O. europaea* tree density and any of the reproductive success in our study. Human disturbance has been shown to decrease pollinator attraction and increase inbreeding, and

thus decrease the fruit production in *Mediterranean orchids* (Pellegrino and Bellusci, 2014). In addition to human disturbance, the reason for low fruit production may be due to flies feeding on *O. europaea* fruits (Mkize et al., 2008), which could lead to abscission of fruits (Stephenson, 1981). The probability of premature fruits developing into mature fruit decreased with steeper slopes in our study. According to (Wegasie et al., 2018), adult *O. europaea* trees are dominated at higher elevation which is steep slope. However, in case of *O. europaea* there, fruit predators e.g. monkey and birds might access the fruits because as they can climb and frequently visit fleshy *O. europaea* fruits for food (Mokotjomela et al., 2013, Abiyu et al., 2017). This might show that the high harvesting of *O. europaea* fruits on steep slopes, which influence the probability of premature fruits resulting in mature.

Our study of the reproductive success of *O. europaea* suggests that human disturbance has a negative influence on both the production of premature fruits, and on the development from premature to mature fruits. For the management and conservation of the species, tracks length could be considered to reduce the disturbance by restrict people to only use a few tracks. However, we need better understanding of why human disturbance is negatively related to the reproductive success of *O. europaea*, so more studies are needed on the mechanisms behind this relationship, such as for example if there is pollen limitation in *O. europaea*.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We are grateful to Brihanu and the local community for their assistance during the fieldwork. We thank Emiru Birhane for facilitating the research work, Mekelle University for logistical support. The NORAD/NORHED- project: Steps toward sustainable forest management with the local communities in Tigray, Northern Ethiopia, funded this study.

REFERENCE

- ABIYU, A., TEKETAY, D., GLATZEL, G., AERTS, R. & GRATZER, G. 2017. Restoration of degraded ecosystems in the Afromontane highlands of Ethiopia: comparison of plantations and natural regeneration. *Southern Forests*, 79, 103-108.
- ABIYU, A., TEKETAY, D., GLATZEL, G. & GRATZER, G. 2016. Seed production, seed dispersal and seedling establishment of two afromontane tree species in and around a church forest: implications for forest restoration. *Forest Ecosystems*, **3**, 16.
- ARENA, M. E., LENCINAS, M. V. & RADIC, S. 2018. Variability in floral traits and reproductive success among and within populations of Berberis microphylla G. Forst., an underutilized fruit species. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 241, 65-73.
- AYNEKULU, E., AERTS, R., DENICH, M., NEGUSSIE, A., FRIIS, I., DEMISSEW, S. & BOEHMER, H. J. 2016. Plant diversity and regeneration in a disturbed isolated dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. *Folia geobotanica*, 51, 115-127.
- AYNEKULU, E., DENICH, M. & TSEGAYE, D. 2009. Regeneration Response of Juniperus procera and Olea europaea subsp cuspidata to Exclosure in a Dry Afromontane Forest in Northern Ethiopia. *Mountain Research and Development*, 29, 143-152.
- BEKELE, T. 2005. Recruitment, survival and growth of Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata seedlings and juveniles in dry Afromontane forests of northern Ethiopia. *Tropical Ecology*, 46, 113-126.
- BLACK, C. A., EVANS, D. & DINAUER, R. 1965. *Methods of soil analysis*, American Society of Agronomy Madison, WI.
- CBD 2009. Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) Ethiopia's 4th Country Report. Addis Ababa: Institute of Biodiversity Conservation
- CHEN, M. & ZUO, X.-A. 2018. Pollen limitation and resource limitation affect the reproductive success of Medicago sativa L. *BMC Ecology*, 18, 28.
- CRAWLEY, M. 2013. The R book, 2nd edn Chichester. UK: Wiley-Blackwell.
- EWERS, R. M. & DIDHAM, R. K. 2006. Confounding factors in the detection of species responses to habitat fragmentation. *Biological reviews*, 81, 117-142.
- FERNANDEZ, J. D., LORITEB, J., BOSCH, J. & GOMEZ, J. M. 2015. Variation in the reproductive success of a narrow endemic plant: Effects of geographical distribution, abiotic conditions and pollinator community composition. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 16, 375-385.

- FRIDIAA, A., WINARDIANTIKA, V., LEE, Y. H., CHOI, I. Y., YOON, C. S. & YEOUNG, Y. R. 2016. Influence of crown size on plant growth, flowering and yield of day-neutral strawberry cultivars. *In:* FINN, C. E. & MEZZETTI, B. (eds.) *Xxix International Horticultural Congress on Horticulture: Sustaining Lives, Livelihoods and Landscapes*. Leuven 1: Int Soc Horticultural Science.
- FRIIS, I. 1992. Forests and forest trees of northeast tropical Africa: their natural habitats and distribution patterns in Ethiopia, Djibouti and Somalia, London (UK), Her Majestry's Stationery Office, 1992.
- LENNARTSSON, T. 2002. Extinction thresholds and disrupted plant–pollinator interactions in fragmented plant populations. *Ecology*, 83, 3060-3072.
- LOUMOU, A. & GIOURGA, C. 2003. Olive groves: ``The life and identity of the Mediterranean". *Agriculture and Human Values*, 20, 87-95.
- MKIZE, N., HOELMER, K. A. & VILLET, M. H. 2008. A survey of fruit-feeding insects and their parasitoids occurring on wild olives, Olea europaea ssp. cuspidata, in the Eastern Cape of South Africa. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, 18, 991-1004.
- MLIGO, C., LYARUU, H. V. M. & NDANGALASI, H. J. 2011. The effect of anthropogenic disturbances on population structure and regeneration of Scorodophloeus fischeri and Manilkara sulcata in coastal forests of Tanzania. *Southern Forests*, 73, 33-40.
- MOKOTJOMELA, T. M., MUSIL, C. F. & ESLER, K. J. 2013. Frugivorous birds visit fruits of emerging alien shrub species more frequently than those of native shrub species in the South African Mediterranean climate region. *South African Journal of Botany*, 86, 73-78.
- NELSON, D. W. & SOMMERS, L. E. 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. *Methods of soil analysis part 3—chemical methods*, 961-1010.
- PELLEGRINO, G. & BELLUSCI, F. 2014. Effects of human disturbance on reproductive success and population viability of Serapias cordigera (Orchidaceae). *Botanical journal of the Linnean Society*, 176, 408-420.
- R CORE TEAM 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. 2016.
- SANNI, G. K. S., SHACKLETON, C. M. & SINSIN, B. 2018. Reproductive phenology of two Mimusops species in relation to climate, tree diameter and canopy position in Benin (West Africa). *African Journal of Ecology*, 56, 323-333.

- SHAO, J. W., ZHANG, X. P., ZHANG, Z. X. & ZHU, G. P. 2008. Effects of population size on reproductive success of the endangered and endemic species Primula merrilliana. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 50, 1151-1160.
- SINGH, V. K., BARMAN, C., MOHANTY, D. & TANDON, R. 2018. Relative contribution of reproductive attributes to the density-dependent effects on fruit-set. *Aob Plants*, 10, 11.
- SLIK, J., AIBA, S. I., BREARLEY, F. Q., CANNON, C. H., FORSHED, O., KITAYAMA, K., NAGAMASU, H., NILUS, R., PAYNE, J. & PAOLI, G. 2010. Environmental correlates of tree biomass, basal area, wood specific gravity and stem density gradients in Borneo's tropical forests. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 19, 50-60.
- STEPHENSON, A. 1981. Flower and fruit abortion: proximate causes and ultimate functions. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 12, 253-279.
- TORIMARU, T., SUZUKI, S., MATSUSHITA, M., MATSUYAMA, N. & AKADA, S. 2018. Effects of soil properties and clonal growth on the apparent sex ratio of the flowering stems of the dioecious clonal shrub Aucuba japonica var. borealis growing in an evergreen coniferous secondary forest. *Acta Oecologica*, 91, 91-100.
- VISWANATHAN, T. 1986. Endangered tree species in northern Ethiopia. *Environmental conservation*, 13, 71-72.
- WEGASIE, M. O., ELDEGARD, K., KLANDERUD, K., TEWOLDE-BERHAN, S., GIDAY, K. & TOTLAND, Ø. 2018. Locally endangered tree species in a dry montane forest are enhanced by high woody species richness but affected by human disturbance. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 158, 19-27.
- ZUUR, A., HILBE, J. & IENO, E. 2013. A beginner's Guide to GLM and GLMM with R: a frequentist and Bayesian perspective to ecologists. Highland Statistics Ltd., Newburgh. ISBN 978-0-387-93837-0 Google Scholar.
- ZUUR, A. F., IENO, E. N. & ELPHICK, C. S. 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in ecology and evolution*, 1, 3-14.

Paper IV



Article

Illegal Harvesting of Locally Endangered *Olea europaea* Subsp. *cuspidata* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. and Its Causes in Hugumburda Forest, Northern Ethiopia

Mekdes Ourge ^{1,2,*}, Ole Hofstad ¹, Kari Klanderud ¹^(b), Katrine Eldegard ¹ and Sarah Tewolde-Berhan ²^(b)

- ¹ Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, P.O. Box 5003, NO-1433 Ås, Norway; ole.hofstad@nmbu.no (O.H.); kari.klanderud@nmbu.no (K.K.); katrine.eldegard@nmbu.no (K.E.)
- ² College of Dry Land Agriculture and Natural Resource, Mekelle University, P.O. Box 231 Mekelle, Ethiopia; saratbge@gmail.com
- * Correspondence: mekdes.ourge@nmbu.no; Tel.: +47-467-177-40

Received: 3 July 2018; Accepted: 10 August 2018; Published: 15 August 2018



Abstract: *Olea europaea* L. subsp *cuspidata* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif., an endangered tree species in dry Afromontane forests, has multiple uses in local communities in Ethiopia, making it susceptible to overexploitation. The study investigated the rates and causes of *O. europaea* harvesting in the Hugumburda National Forest Priority Area (NFPA). We measured the diameter at stump height of harvested stumps from 70 (20×20 m) plots and estimated the time since cutting to determine the biomass of *O. europaea* wood harvested annually in the forest. We performed a socioeconomic survey of the reasons for wood harvesting by conducting 163 stratified random individual interviews in the villages surrounding the forest. The average annual quantity of *O. europaea* wood illegally harvested from the forest was estimated to be 430 kg ha⁻¹, mainly for farm implements, fuel wood, and fumigation purposes. The results of a General Linear Model (GLM) show that the extraction of *O. europaea* wood in the forest is higher at an intermediate distance to the villages. We show that *O. europaea* is harvested in the forest despite the fact that the forest is protected. Permanent sample plots should be established to monitor the increment.

Keywords: African olive; dry Afromontane forest; fuel wood; farming implements; multipurpose tree; socioeconomic survey

1. Introduction

Dry Afromontane forests are dominant in Ethiopian highlands [1,2]. The highlands cover more than 50% of the country's total area, and common practices there are crop production and livestock rearing [2,3]. Illegal logging and agricultural land expansion towards the forest edge are the main factors contributing to forest degradation [4–6]. The energy demands of the increasing population are mainly supported by biomass [7,8], which is derived from fuel wood, agricultural residues, and cow dung. Most people in the local communities cannot afford alternative energy sources [9], and the low incomes earned by rural families are often inadequate to meet their basic needs. As a result, forests close to the local communities have been affected by illegal logging both for home consumption and as a means of generating income [10]. The illegal harvesting of wood may lead to the destruction of the forests, and therefore the Ethiopian government has declared and implemented policies for managing


58 National Forest Priority Areas (NFPAs), covering 3.6 million ha, with the purpose of maintaining forest genetic resources. However, these policies have not been successful, as wood harvesting has continued to take place in the protected areas [11].

Hugumburda National Forest Priority Area (hereafter Hugumburda forest) has higher plant diversity compared with other forests and NFPAs in northern Ethiopia [12]. *Olea europaea* subsp. *cuspidata* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. (hereafter abbreviated as *O. europaea*), commonly known as African olive, is a multipurpose tree species found widely distributed in the forest [11,13]. The wood is used for fuel, fumigation (smoke baths), farm implements, house building and furniture, and the leaves are used for medicine. For example, the unique fragrance from the smoke of burnt *O. europaea* is used as a pleasant scent in homes, for flavoring traditional drinks, and as an insect repellent [14]. Negash [15] states that because of its economic and traditional benefits, the population of *O. europaea* is declining in Ethiopia due to overexploitation and needing in situ conservation at a national level [16–19]. However, there is limited knowledge about the harvesting rate of the species in Hugumburda forest. Accordingly, the main objectives of the study were: (1) to estimate the annual harvest of *O. europaea* in Hugumburda; (2) to identify the pattern in the annual harvesting of the species in relation to distance from the villages, slope, and elevation; and (3) to assess the socioeconomic importance of *O. europaea* for local households.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area

Hugumburda National Forest Priority Area (12°36′ N, 39°31′ E) is situated in the southern part of Tigray Region, Ethiopia. The altitudinal range is 1860–2700 m a.s.l. (meters above sea level) [12]. Average daily temperatures are in the range of 14.6–22.4 °C, with a minimum of 8.8 °C in October and a maximum of 34.3 °C in June, and the average annual rainfall is 705–986 mm [13]. The forest was designated as a National Forest Priority Area in 1993 [11].

The forest is located ca. 630 km north of Addis Ababa, the capital of Ethiopia. There are four districts bordering the forest: Alamata, Endamehoni, Ofla, and Raya Azebo. The extraction of any resources within the forest except dead wood and cactus fruit is forbidden by law.

2.2. Data Collection

2.2.1. Ecological Survey

We compiled a forest inventory to enable us to estimate the extent of the harvesting of O. europaea in Hugumurda Forest. Initially, a reconnaissance survey was performed to identify O. europaea-dominated areas of the forest. Then, 70 sample plots (20 m \times 20 m) (Figure 1) were laid out in O. europaea-dominated areas in which all O. europaea stumps could be counted and their diameter at stump height (DSH) measured, in order to estimate the aboveground biomass of the wood that had been cut and removed from the forest. The plots were marked ca. 100 m apart along parallel transects placed perpendicular to three local terrain ridges, with each transect running from the top to the bottom of the ridge. The distance between neighboring transects was ca. 150 m. The time since harvest (hereafter referred to as stump age) of each stump was estimated by the freshness of exposed wood and coppices, in order to estimate the annual harvest rate. Stumps with freshly exposed wood and without coppices were estimated as one year old. The age of stumps with older exposed wood and small sprouts was estimated as two years old, and those with coppices and signs of decomposition were estimated to be more than two years old. We roughly determined the purpose of illegal harvesting on the basis of the stump diameters (i.e., DSHs). Local farmers and forest guards assisted us with stump age estimation and identification of the reason for cutting. Other information collected from each plot included slope and elevation measured at the center of each main plot with a clinometer and a handheld GPS respectively. By overlaying 70 plots in Google Earth software version 7.2 (Google, California, CA, USA), we were able to measure the distance from each sample plot to the nearest

village, Hugumburda to see how the accessibility related to the harvesting rates. The Hugumburda village was the nearest village to all sample plots.



Figure 1. The sample plots in Hugumburda Forest in relation to the study villages, Hashenge, Kukufto, and Tahtay Haya.

2.2.2. Socioeconomic Survey

We conducted a socioeconomic survey in three villages to assess human activities relating to the harvesting of *O. europaea* in the reserve. Three villages, Kukufto, Hashenge, and Tahtay Haya, were selected from the three neighboring districts of Raya Azebo, Ofla, and Endamehoni, respectively, based on their proximity to the forest. In order to avoid sampling bias, we did not conduct a socioeconomic survey in Hugumburda village because some of the households lived within the forest. Representatives of 162 households and 54 respondents from each village were interviewed. Systematic stratified sampling was used to select households, with the aim of including both genders and different economic statuses, age classes, and educational backgrounds. A semi-structured questionnaire was developed and pre-tested twice. The survey was conducted from March to May 2016.

The questionnaire was designed to provide demographic information, such as gender, age, education, profession, job type, economic status, marital status, and different uses of *O. europaea* wood; frequency of using *O. europaea* wood; and places where the household obtained *O. europaea* wood for different purposes. The age of each respondent was classified into one of four age groups: 15–24 years, 25–44 years, 45–64 years, and 65+ years. The data were collected by conducting face-to-face personal interviews in the local language, Tigrigna.

In addition, direct preference ranking was done to identify the local community preference for plant species for fuel wood and traditional toothbrush uses. The names of common plants were listed and the respondents were divided into 16 groups, each with 9–10 respondents, and requested to rank their preferences for fuel wood and cleaning teeth use. After the ranking was completed, the scores for each species were counted and the preference list was compiled on the basis of the highest score.

Additionally, a fuel wood market survey was conducted to quantify the amount of *O. europaea* wood products being traded at the local markets. In addition, the market price for the same products

in Mekelle, the capital of Tigray, was assessed for comparison. During the survey, 12 *O. europaea* wood sellers were found in two marketplaces, Shoko Majo and Kukufto, located in Endamehoni and Raya Azebo districts, respectively. Each marketplace was represented by six wood sellers and they were interviewed about the quantity of *O. europaea* wood and the price at the local market. In addition, the same fuel wood survey was conducted to five marketplaces (Aider, Adiha, Adihawsi, Lachi, and Ashirte shewuate) in Mekelle town. Seven *O. europaea* wood merchants from each of the markets, 35 in total, were interviewed. The amount of *O. europaea* wood traded in the fuel markets was quantified by weighing each bundle and converting the local unit of measurement (bundle of wood) into kilograms.

2.3. Data Analysis

2.3.1. Data Preparation

To determine the quantity of *O. europaea* wood harvested annually (hereafter called the harvesting rate), we summed the aboveground biomass of all *O. europaea* trees cut during the last year (i.e., stumps classified as one year old). The sum of individual tree aboveground biomass was divided by 0.04 to find the harvested biomass in kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for each sample plot, since all sample plots were 400 m².

The aboveground biomass (AGB) of *O. europaea* wood harvested in Hugumburda forest was calculated using the allometric equation developed by Parent [20] for oven-dry biomass of *O. europaea* trees in Ethiopia:

AGB (in kg) =
$$(0.6806 \times \text{DSH}) + (0.0422 \times (\text{DSH}^{2.7})),$$
 (1)

where AGB = aboveground biomass of individual *O. europaea* tree (kg) and DSH = the diameter at stump height (cm). The estimated biomass did not include roots and foliage.

2.3.2. Statistical Analysis

The ecological dataset was first subjected to exploratory analyses following Zuur et al. [21], to check for outliers and collinearity between candidate explanatory variables and to explore the relationships between the response and candidate explanatory variables. To avoid collinearity, we made a correlation matrix with correlation coefficients (*r*) for all possible pairs of candidate explanatory variables. Pearson correlation coefficients test were used for the continuous explanatory variables.

We used two different estimates of harvested amount (number of stumps and harvesting rate) because they were not strongly correlated (Pearson correlation: r = 0.53, p < 0.001. This is not so surprising, given that the diameter distribution of harvested *O. europaea* trees was quite variable. This means that for example 10 random samples of 10 harvested trees, would have a high among-samples variation in biomass. The two different estimates of harvested amount were influenced by different explanatory variables. By using only one of them, we would miss interesting patterns of association with the explanatory variables. Therefore, we chose to use both of them.

To determine whether there was a relationship between the harvesting rate of *O. europaea* (i.e., the quantity of *O. europaea* wood harvested from the forest annually) and the explanatory variables, we fitted a general linear model (GLM) with an identity link function, assuming a Gaussian distribution of errors. Explanatory variables included in the full model were elevation, slope, distance to nearest village, and the second power of each of these variables, to capture "humped-backed" relationships detected in the exploratory analyses.

To determine whether there was a relationship between the number of harvested stumps of *O. europaea* and the explanatory variables, we fitted a generalized linear model (GLM) with log link function, assuming a Poisson distribution of errors. However, this model was overdispersed (generalized Pearson statistic (gPs) = 4.01); therefore, we refitted the model with a negative binomial GLM (gPs = 0.99). Explanatory variables included in the full model were elevation, slope, distance to nearest village, and the second power of each of these variables, to capture "humped-back" relationships detected in the exploratory analyses.

Initially, we did not consider number of stumps as a response variable because harvesting rate was calculated from the number of stumps. However, during data exploration, we found that number of stumps had a strong relationship with distance from the nearest village but harvesting rate did not have a similarly strong relationship. Therefore, we performed separate analyses for the two variables, assuming both variables as a response variable, to determine how harvesting rate and number of *O. europaea* stumps were related to slope, elevation, and distance to nearest village.

To determine whether the probability that a household harvested O. europaea wood directly from the forest ("yes" or "no") was influenced by the candidate explanatory variables sampled in the socioeconomic surveys (Table 1), we fitted a GLM, assuming a binomial distribution of errors and using the logit link function. Many of the candidate explanatory variables were strongly correlated (i.e., collinearity problem) and not significant to the response variable during the single variable model selection. Therefore, only explanatory variables that had a statistically significant influence (p < 0.05) on the response in the single variable models were included as explanatory variables in the full model. Among the candidate explanatory variables described in Table 1, only the variables "Use of O. europaea wood for fuel wood," "Villages," "Household head," and "Frequency of use of O. europaea wood for fumigating the home" were included as explanatory variables in the full model, with "Likelihood of harvesting O. europaea from Hugumburda forest" as a response variable. The other candidate variables were not included in the full model, either because they had no significant influence on the response variable in single-variable models (p > 0.05), or because they were strongly correlated (r > 0.7) with one or more of the explanatory variables (indicated in bold in Table 1). Polychoric correlation tests [22], i.e., tests of association between ordinal variables, were used to identify correlations between candidate categorical explanatory variables in the socioeconomic dataset: village; age class; family size; education level; household head; marital status; economic status; places to collect O. europaea wood for fuel wood, fumigation, and farm implements; use of O. europaea wood for fuel wood, fumigation, and farm implements; frequency of use of O. europaea wood for fumigation; and whether or not O. europaea trees were planted in the backyard (Table 1). In cases of correlation (r > 0.7) between two candidate variables, we selected the variable most strongly correlated with the response (i.e., the highest *r*-value) for inclusion in the full (most complex model), while at the same time avoiding collinearity with other variables.

Table 1. Description of response and candidate explanatory variables used in the model within the socioeconomic dataset. Only explanatory variables in bold were included in the full model explaining the Likelihood of harvesting *Olea europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. from Hugumburda Forest. The other variables were not included in the full model, either because they had no significant influence on the response variable or because they were strongly correlated (r > 0.7) with one or more of the variables in bold.

Variables	Description		
Response Variable			
Likelihood of harvesting <i>O. europaea</i> from Hugumburda Forest Candidate explanatory variables:	The probability that a household harvested <i>O. europaea</i> wood directly from the forest (yes or no)		
Villages	Hashenge, Kukufto, and Tahtay Haya (administrative units)		
Age class	Age of the household head in years (15-24, 25-44, 45-64, or 64 +)		
Family size	Number of family members		
Education level	Number of school years completed by the household head (0, 1–5, 6–10, 11–12, or 12 +)		
Household head	Male-headed or female-headed household		
Marital status	Household situation with regard to whether household head is single, married, separated, divorced, or widowed		
Economic status	Whether the household is poor, middle-income, or rich		
Use of O. europaea wood for fuel wood	A household using O. europaea wood for fuel wood (yes or no)		
Use of O. europaea wood for fumigation	A household using O. europaea wood for fumigation (yes or no)		
Places obtaining O. europaea wood for fumigation	A household obtaining <i>O. europaea</i> wood for fumigation (from backyard, market or the forest)		

Variables		Description	
Response Variab	le		
Frequency of use of <i>O. europaea</i> we the home	ood for fumigating	The frequency of a household head using <i>O. europaea</i> wood to fumigate his or her own house (daily, every three days, once per week, or three times per week)	
Use of <i>O. europaea</i> wood for farm Places obtaining <i>O. europaea</i> wood implements A household head planted <i>O. europa</i>	ning implements l for making farm ea in his/her garden	A household using <i>O. europaea</i> wood for farming implements (yes or no) A household obtaining <i>O. europaea</i> wood for making farming implements (from backyard, market or the forest) A household that has planted an <i>O. europaea</i> tree (yes or no)	

Table 1. Cont.

For the generalized linear models, we carried out model selection by stepwise variable selection procedure, which retains or drops explanatory variables to produce a model that minimizes the Akaike information criterion (AIC) using the stepAIC function in the MASS package in R. The model was fitted using the package in R version 3.4.4 software (R Core Team, Vienna, Austria, 2018).

Responses collected during preference ranking were used to identify the plants that were most important for fuel wood and cleaning teeth from the woody species in the forest. The respondents' scores were counted and ranked from the highest to lowest. Descriptive statistical methods were used to summarize the data.

The fuel wood data collected from the market places were used to show the demand for *O. europaea* wood in the rural villages and big town such as Mekelle. Accordingly, the average price was estimated for each *O. europaea* wood bundle weighed from seven local merchants and 35 Mekelle town fuel wood merchants.

3. Results

3.1. Amount of O. europaea Wood Harvested

The stump survey revealed that the average annual *O. europaea* wood harvest rate was 430 kg/ha of the surveyed part of Hugumburda Forest. The 95% confidence interval for this estimate was between 250 kg/ha and 620 kg/ha. Given that the total forested area in the study area was 8103 ha, the total biomass of *O. europaea* wood harvested in the reserve during the study period was probably between 2000 and 5000 tons.

A frequency distribution plot of the diameter classes shows that the frequency of cutting *O. europaea* trees with small diameters (1–4 cm) was higher than for those in the large diameter classes (5–13 cm) (Figure 2). This might have been due to the high abundance of small *O. europaea* trees in Hugumburda forest.



Figure 2. Number of *Olea europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. stumps in different diameter classes in Hugumburda Forest. DHS class 1 = 0–2.9 cm; 2 = 3–5.9 cm; 3 = 6–8.9 cm; 4 = 9–11.9 cm; 5 = 12–14.9 cm; 6 = 13–17.9 cm; 7 = 18–20.9 cm; 8 = 21–23.9 cm; 9 = 24–26.9 cm; 10 = 27–29.9 cm; 11 = 30–32.9 cm; 12 = 33–35.9 cm; 13 = 36–38.9 cm.

3.2. Factors Influencing the Amount of O. europaea Harvested

The general linear model explained 11% of the variation in the harvesting rate of *O. europaea* (Table 2). Annual harvesting rate of *O. europaea* was positively related to elevation in the forest (Figure 3). For instance, the annual harvesting rate increased by 100 kg/ha when elevation increased 2300–2400 m a.s.l. This might have been due to the high abundance of *O. europaea* trees at higher altitudes (Table 2 and Figure 3).

Table 2. Factors influencing the harvesting rate of *Olea europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. Also shown are the parameter estimates (β) and associated standard errors and *t*-values for a linear model of the relationship between *O. europaea* harvesting rate and the explanatory variables retained in the final model (Y = 0.423 + 0.262x, R^2 = 0.11).

	β	SE	t	p
Intercept	0.423	0.094	4.480	<0.001
Elevation (m a.s.l.)	0.262	0.095	2.757	<0.001



m a.s.l., meters above sea level.

Figure 3. The relationship between harvesting rate of *Olea europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. and elevation in Hugumburda dry. Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. The solid lines indicate the fitted lines and the shaded polygons denote the 95% confidence intervals. The grey circles show observed values. m a.s.l., meters above sea level.

The general linear model explained 17% of the variation in the number of *O. europaea* stumps. There was a "humped-back" relationship between the number of *O. europaea* stumps and distance from the nearest village (Table 3). For instance, the number of stumps increased when the distance from the nearest village increased from 1 km to 2 km. However, the number of stumps showed a decreasing trend when the distance increased from 2.5 km to 4 km (Figure 4).

Table 3. Factors influencing the number of *Olea europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. stumps in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. Also shown are the parameter estimates (β) and associated standard errors and *z*-values for the relationship between the number of *Olea europaea* stumps and other explanatory variables retained in the final model (Y = $1.222 + 0.118x - 0.333x^2$, $R^2 = 0.17$).

	β	SE	z	р
Intercept	1.222	0.110	11.072	< 0.001
Distance from the nearest village (km)	0.118	0.119	0.987	0.324
Distance to the nearest village (km ²)	-0.333	0.100	-3.339	< 0.001



Figure 4. The relationship between the number of *Olea europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. stumps and distance from the nearest village in Hugumburda dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. The solid lines indicate the fitted lines and the shaded polygons denote the 95% confidence intervals. The grey circles show observed values.

3.3. Household Consumption of O. europaea Wood

The three case villages represented 54% (Kukufto), 28% (Hashenge) and 18% (Tahtay Haya) of the total number of households (7011) in those villages. The majority of respondents interviewed (96%) in the villages confirmed that fuel wood was their main source of energy (Table 4). According to the preference ranking of plant species, *Cadia purpurea* Willd. and *O. europaea* were the villagers' preference for fuel wood; only 3% of the respondents used cow dung, and only 1% used electricity.

In addition to fuel wood, the preference-ranking analysis was also conducted to rank the most common plant species used for oral hygiene (traditional toothbrush). During the interviews, seven of the most important plant species for fuel wood and six for cleaning teeth use were identified among 40 woody species from the forest. *O. europaea* and *Dodonaea viscosa* (L.f.) Benth. var. *angustifolia* were the main species preferred by the villagers (Table 5).

Types of Energy	Preferred Species for Fuel Wood	No. of Respondents	Rank
Fuel wood	Cadia purpurea Willd. O. europaea (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. Carissa edulis L. Eucalyptus camaldulensis Dehnh. Dodonaea viscosa (L.f.) Benth. var. angustifolia Juniperus procera Hochst. ex Endl. Clerodendrum villosum De Wild Others	57 51 15 9 5 1 1 1 5	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
Cow dung		5	-
Electricity		2	-

Table 4. Energy sources and plant species used for cooking (fuel wood) ranked by the respondents' preferences.

Table 5. Respondents' total scores and ranking of the six plant species used for cleaning teeth.

Species Used for Cleaning Teeth	Total Score	Percentage	Rank
O. europaea (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif.	154	92.8	1
Dodonaea viscosa (L.f.) Benth.	57	34.3	2
Pittosporum viridiflorum Sims	15	9.0	3
Cardia purpurea Willd.	11	6.6	4
<i>Euclea racemosa</i> subsp. <i>schimperi</i> A.DC. F. White	6	3.6	5
Others	38	22.9	6

3.4. The Main Uses of O. europaea Wood

The majority of respondents indicated that fuel wood, fumigation, and farm implements were the three main uses of *O. europaea* wood. For fuel wood, both the stem (80.7%) and branches (69.2%) were ranked as the main parts of the trees that were preferred and the leaves (3%) were the least preferred part. For fumigation, both the stem (90.3%) and the roots (74.1%) were the main preferred parts and the bark (0%) was not used at all. For making farm implements, branches (77.7%) were ranked as the main preferred part of *O. europaea*, the stem (50%) was the second most preferred part, and the least preferred part were the roots. When we asked respondents whether they used *O. europaea* wood for different purposes, the majority (83%) responded that they used it for fumigation, and almost as many (76%) said they used it for making farm implements.

In the local markets, 1 kg of *O. europaea* wood was sold at a price of 6.56 ± 1.92 Ethiopian Birr (ETB), yet in Mekelle town the price was 3.9 ± 0.51 ETB. The prices were converted from ETB to United States dollars (USD), using an exchange rate of 1 USD to 21.59 ETB (April 2016 exchange rate). Therefore, 100 kg of *O. europaea* wood at the local wood market was estimated as having a value of 30.89 ± 8.91 USD, which was more than the equivalent price per 100 kg at Mekelle town's wood market (17.94 \pm 2.38 USD).

Both the geographical location of a household and its use of *O. europaea* for firewood affected the likelihood of the household's members harvesting and collecting *O. europaea* wood directly from the forest (Table 6 and Figure 5). There was a highlight probability of people living in Kukufto harvesting *O. europaea* from the forest compared with people from Tahtay Haya and Hashenge, and people from the Hashenge forest had the lowest probability of harvesting *O. europaea* from the forest. Households that used *O. europaea* for firewood were more likely to obtain the wood directly from the forests than were households that did not use it for firewood.

Table 6. The estimated likelihood *O. europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. being harvested from Hugumburda Forest by people from different villages adjacent to the forest, based on results from a binary GLM (response: harvest versus non-harvest) with logit link function. GLM, General Linear Models. Also shown are the parameter estimates (β) and associated standard errors and *z*-values.

	β	SE	z	Р
Intercept (Hashenge)	-0.223	0.387	-0.576	0.565
Kukufto	2.238	0.658	3.400	0.001
Tahtay Haya	0.803	0.511	1.570	0.116



Figure 5. The likelihood of *O. europaea* (Wall. ex G. Don) Cif. wood being harvested from the forest by the respondents living in the three villages adjacent to Hugumburda forest.

4. Discussion

We estimated that a quantity of 2000–5000 tons of O. europaea wood biomass was harvested from 8103 ha of Hugumburda Forest during 2016 (i.e., the study year). Since our sample plots were located in parts of the forest where the species was abundant, the actual removal might have tended towards the lower end of this interval. To our knowledge, no estimates of increment or yield of O. europaea in Hugumburda Forest have been made to date. However, the reported mean annual increment (MAI) of O. europaea in Desa'a dry Afromontane forest (a similar forest type to Hugumburda Forest, located in same region) is 1.083 m³ ha⁻¹ [23]. If this estimate were applied to the forest area of Hugumburda, the total increment of *O. europaea* would be more than 8700 m³ per year. Using the basic specific gravity of 0.72 [24], 8700 m³ is equal to 6300 Mg of biomass. This indicates that removal is below the estimated increment and that the ongoing illegal harvest is not seriously degrading the population of O. europaea in the forest. However, this estimate is rather speculative. Based on the interviews, we found that the O. europaea wood harvested was used for different purposes, including farm implements, fuel wood, and fumigation. An ethnobotanical study conducted by Kidane et al. [13] revealed that O. europaea tree is a multipurpose species in the study area. According to previous studies, the hard and heavy wood is useful for farm implements [25]. In addition, many households use O. europaea wood for firewood or making charcoal because it burns slowly and has a high calorific value with little smoke [10,26]. The chemical components of wood and leaves [27,28] make the tree attractive for fumigation and cleaning teeth. The logs used for farm implements were medium-sized, whereas there was no size preference for fuel wood. By contrast, large logs were preferred for fumigation, possibly because of the villagers' belief that large O. europaea logs had more effective medicinal value than did small ones. However, we could not find any evidence of suggested log size for fumigation use in previous studies.

The *O. europaea* stump diameter distribution shows that small trees were cut more frequently than were large ones, and the reason could be the population dynamics of the species, as similar size

distributions have been found in most non-regulated tree populations [29,30]. Therefore, the harvesting pattern might simply have been a result of natural availability. Another explanation could be that small trees were easier to cut with the tools available, and were therefore used for firewood [31]. During the interviews, we also noted that the local people did not have any special size preference regarding the species used for fuel wood. In addition, since the forest is at its secondary succession [12], perhaps any large trees in the reserve had been cut a long time ago.

The positive relationship between the harvesting rate and elevation may be due to the high abundance of the species at higher elevations. Kidane et al. [32] observed that the abundance of different tree species, including *O. europaea*, was higher at higher elevations in the same forest.

We found a positive relationship between the number of stumps and distance from the nearest village up to ca. 2.5 km, but for longer distances the relationship was weaker. This finding shows that most trees have been cut at intermediate distances (ca. 1.5–2.5 km) from the nearest village during recent years. According to Kidane et al. [13], sawmills were installed in the forest in the 1950s, and trees were harvested for commercial purposes. However, the decreasing number of stumps found beyond 3 km from the village probably related to transport economics, since *O. europaea* is heavy and transportation is very difficult, which often means that the wood has to be carried by hand.

Surprisingly, the market price for *O. europaea* wood in Mekelle was lower than in the villages around Hugumburda Forest, possibly due to high demand for the species by the local communities living around the forest [13]. It is probable that the *O. europaea* wood sold at the wood market in Mekelle comes from many sources, and competition among suppliers may help to keep the prices for the wood relatively low. In turn, this could increase the likelihood of illegal harvesting in forests.

Despite the existence of rules and regulations that prohibit the harvesting of O. europaea in Hugumburda Forest, local people continue using the wood regularly. This was particularly the case in Kukufto village, and the reason might be that most of the forest guards were from the village of Hashenge, which is near the forest. Thus, it was relatively easy for the guards to identify who among the people living in the closest villages had cut the trees, and the people were afraid of being caught. The people in the farthest village, Kukufto, might have had less fear about harvesting O. europaea wood in the forest because few forest guards were enrolled from their village. Furthermore, we observed that there were more O. europaea wood merchants in Kukufto than at Shoko Majo market because most of the forest guards were from Hashenge, and therefore they could be stricter towards those living in villages nearer to them than could other guards. This, in turn, may be a reason why we found a low probability of O. europaea wood being obtained directly from the forest by the villagers in Hashenge. It may be a good idea to recruit guards from all villages surrounding the reserve to make the forest guarding more secured. However, forest guards are employed to look after the forest reserve and ensure that illegal harvesting does not occur. Clearly, they have not been entirely effective in this respect, and this may be due to a lack of sufficient resources for patrolling or because guards are corrupt or unwilling to stop low-intensity tree cutting carried out by their own neighbors [33,34]. The level of patrolling necessary to stop all illegal harvesting may not be socially optimal [35]. Since the forest is at its secondary stage of development, which means it is dominated by small-sized woody species [13], we would not encourage any harvesting in the forest except for non-timber forest products. In addition, for an effective guarding system, we recommend that the forest administration should consider equal representation of guards from all surrounding villages.

5. Conclusions

Illegal harvesting of *O. europaea* wood was observed in Hugumburda Forest for three main uses, fuel wood, fumigation, and farm implements, likely because the local people did not have an alternative source. The positive relationship between the harvesting rate and elevation showed a high frequency of harvesting in the forest at higher altitudes, where *O. europaea* is abundant. The estimated value of *O. europaea* biomass harvested illegally does not seem to degrade the population of this tree

species. We recommend the establishment of permanent sample plots in the forest reserve in order to monitor the increment of *O. europaea* as well as other tree species.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.O.; Methodology, M.O., O.H., K.E. and S.T.-B.; Supervision, O.H., K.K. and K.E.; Writing—original draft, M.O. and K.E.; Writing—review & editing, O.H., K.K. and S.T.-B.

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to all field assistants and members of the local community for their help during the fieldwork. The research was funded by NORHED project titled "Steps toward sustainable forest management with the local communities in Tigray, Northern Ethiopia (ETH-13/0018)". We give special thanks to Kidane Giday for his input during questionnaire preparation, Meley Mekonen Rannestad for her input during the preparation of the questionnaire and comments on an early draft of this manuscript, and Ellen Jessica Kayendeke for her help with the preparation of a map of the study sites.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Friis, I. Forests and Forest Trees of Northeast Tropical Africa: Their Natural Habitats and Distribution Patterns in Ethiopia, Djibouti and Somalia; Her Majestry's Stationery Office: London, UK, 1992.
- Bekele, T. Vegetation Ecology of Remnant Afromontane Forests on the Central Plateau of Shewa, Ethiopia; Opulus Press: Uppsala, Sweden, 1993.
- Teketay, D. Seed and regeneration ecology in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia: I. Seed production-population structures. Trop. Ecol. 2005, 46, 29–44.
- Hawando, T. Desertification in Ethiopian Highlands. Available online: http://www.rala.is/rade/ralareport/ Hawando.pdf (accessed on 14 August 2018).
- Teketay, D. Seed and regeneration ecology in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia: II. Forest disturbances and succession. *Trop. Ecol.* 2005, 46, 45–64.
- Girma, A.; Mosandl, R.; Kateb, H.E.; Masresha, F. Restoration of degraded secondary forest with native species: A case study in the highland of Ethiopia. *Scand. J. For. Res.* 2010, 25, 86–91. [CrossRef]
- Kituyi, E.; Marufu, L.; Huber, B.; Wandiga, S.O.; Jumba, I.O.; Andreae, M.O.; Helas, G. Biofuel consumption rates and patterns in Kenya. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2001, 20, 83–99. [CrossRef]
- Njiti, C.F.; Kemcha, G.M. In Survey of Fuel Wood and Service Wood Production and Consumption in the Sudano-Sahelian Region of Central Africa: The Case of Garoua, Cameroon and Its Rural Environs. Available online: https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/file/index/docid/135780/filename/T222Njiti.pdf (accessed on 14 August 2018).
- Teklehaimanot, Z.; Healey, J. Biodiversity Conservation in Ancient Church and Monastery Yards in Ethiopia. Available online: http://www.darwininitiative.org.uk/documents/10031/14005/10-031% 20AR1%20-%20edited.pdf (accessed on 14 August 2018).
- 10. Gebreslassie, T.; Hagos, G.; Abraham, M. Assessing households' fuel wood tree species preference, the case of Desa'a afro alpine forest, Tigray. *Civ. Environ. Res.* **2014**, *6*, 48–51.
- 11. Woldemichael, L.K.; Bekele, T.; Nemomissa, S. Vegetation composition in Hugumbirda-Gratkhassu National Forest Priority Area, South Tigray. *Momona Ethiop. J. Sci.* **2010**, *2*, 27–48. [CrossRef]
- 12. Aynekulu, E. Forest Diversity in Fragmented Landscapes of Northern Ethiopia and Implications for Conservation. Ph.D. Thesis, Rheinschen Friedrich-Wilhems Universitat, Bonn, Germany, 2011.
- 13. Kidane, L.; Nemomissa, S.; Bekele, T. Human-forest interfaces in Hugumburda-Gratkhassu National Forest Priority Area, North-eastern Ethiopia. J. Ethnobiol. Ethnomed. 2018, 14, 17. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Negash, L. Indigenous Trees of Ethiopia: Biology, Uses and Propagation Techniques; Department of Biology, Addis Ababa University: Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 1995.
- 15. Negash, L. Vegetative propagation of the threatened African wild olive [*Olea europaea* L. subsp. *cuspidata* (Wall. ex DC.) Ciffieri]. *New For.* **2003**, *26*, 137–146. [CrossRef]
- 16. Viswanathan, T. Endangered tree species in Northern Ethiopia. Environ. Conserv. 1986, 13, 71–72. [CrossRef]
- 17. Negash, L. Successful vegetative propagation techniques for the threatened African pencil cedar (*Juniperus procera* Hoechst. ex Endl.). *For. Ecol. Manag.* **2002**, *161*, 53–64. [CrossRef]
- Aynekulu, E.; Denich, M.; Tsegaye, D. Regeneration Response of *Juniperus procera* and *Olea europaea* subsp *cuspidata* to exclosure in a dry Afromontane forest in northern Ethiopia. *Mt. Res. Dev.* 2009, 29, 143–152. [CrossRef]

- CBD Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) Ethiopia's 4th Country Report. Available online: https: //www.cbd.int/doc/world/et/et-nr-04-en.pdf (accessed on 14 August 2018).
- Parent, G. Manual for woody biomass inventory. In Woody Biomass Inventory and Strategic Planning Project; Ministry of Agriculture: Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 2000.
- Zuur, A.F.; Ieno, E.N.; Elphick, C.S. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 2010, 1, 3–14. [CrossRef]
- 22. Ekström, J. A Generalized Definition of the Polychoric Correlation Coefficient. 2011. Available online: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/583610fv (accessed on 14 August 2018).
- Gebreslassie, T.; Gebreslassie, H. Current status and future prospect of Olea europaea and Juniperu procera on Desa'a Afro Alpine forest, North Ethiopia. J. Nat. Sci. Res. 2014, 4, 62–65.
- Meier, E. Wood!: Identifying and Using Hundreds of Woods Worldwide. Wood Database, 2015. Available online: https://www.amazon.com/Identifying-Using-Hundreds-Worldwide-2015-10-10/dp/B01FGP9964 (accessed on 14 August 2018).
- Kassa, A.; Konrad, H.; Geburek, T. Mating pattern and pollen dispersal in the wild olive tree (*Olea europaea* subsp *cuspidata*). *Tree Genet. Genomes* 2018, 14, 3. [CrossRef]
- Wubet, T.; Kottke, I.; Teketay, D.; Oberwinkler, F. Mycorrhizal status of indigenous trees in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia. *For. Ecol. Manag.* 2003, 179, 387–399. [CrossRef]
- Long, H.S.; Tilney, P.M.; van Wyk, B.E. The ethnobotany and pharmacognosy of Olea europaea subsp africana (Oleaceae). South Afr. J. Bot. 2010, 76, 324–331. [CrossRef]
- Flemmig, J.; Kuchta, K.; Arnhold, J.; Rauwald, H.W. Olea europaea leaf (Ph.Eur.) extract as well as several of its isolated phenolics inhibit the gout-related enzyme xanthine oxidase. *Phytomedicine* 2011, 18, 561–566. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 29. Leak, W.B. The J-shaped probability distribution. For. Sci. 1965, 11, 405-409.
- Westphal, C.; Tremer, N.; von Oheimb, G.; Hansen, J.; von Gadow, K.; Härdtle, W. Is the reverse J-shaped diameter distribution universally applicable in European virgin beech forests? *For. Ecol. Manag.* 2006, 223, 75–83. [CrossRef]
- 31. Leach, G.; Mearns, R. Beyond the Woodfuel Crisis: People, Land and Trees in Africa; Routledge: London, UK, 2013.
- Kidane, L.; Nemomissa, S.; Woldu, Z. The effects of disturbance on the population structure and regeneration potential of five dominant woody species--in Hugumburda-Gratkhassu National Forest Priority Area, North-eastern Ethiopia. *Afr. J. Ecol.* 2016, 54, 20–28. [CrossRef]
- 33. Teye, J.K. Corruption and illegal logging in Ghana. Int. Dev. Plan. Rev. 2013, 35, 1–19. [CrossRef]
- Lee, J.-H.; Sigmund, K.; Dieckmann, U.; Iwasa, Y. Games of corruption: How to suppress illegal logging. J. Theor. Biol. 2015, 367, 1–13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hofstad, O. A theoretical analysis of illegal wood harvesting as predation–With two Ugandan illustrations. Scand. For. Econ. 2008, 42, 441–452.



© 2018 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

ISBN: 978-82-575-1562-1 ISSN: 1894-6402



Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no